Published for SISSA by 🖉 Springer

RECEIVED: October 13, 2016 ACCEPTED: November 6, 2016 PUBLISHED: November 21, 2016

The goldstino brane, the constrained superfields and matter in $\mathcal{N}=1$ supergravity

Igor Bandos,^{*a,b*} Markus Heller,^{*c,d*} Sergei M. Kuzenko,^{*e*} Luca Martucci^{*c,f*} and Dmitri Sorokin^{f,c} ^a Department of Theoretical Physics, University of the Basque Country UPV/EHU, P.O. Box 644, 48080 Bilbao, Spain ^bIKERBASQUE, Basque Foundation for Science, 48011, Bilbao, Spain ^cDipartimento di Fisica e Astronomia "Galileo Galilei", Università degli Studi di Padova, Via Marzolo 8, 35131 Padova, Italy ^dInstitut für Theoretische Physik, Ruprecht-Karls-Universität, Philosophenweg 19, 69120 Heidelberg, Germany ^eSchool of Physics M013, The University of Western Australia 35 Stirling Highway, Crawley W.A. 6009, Australia ^fINFN — Sezione di Padova, Via Marzolo 8, 35131 Padova, Italy *E-mail:* igor.bandos@ehu.eus, markus/heller@gmx.de, sergei.kuzenko@uwa.edu.au, martucci@pd.infn.it, sorokin@pd.infn.it ABSTRACT: We show that different (brane and constrained superfield) descriptions for the

ABSTRACT: We show that different (brane and constrained superfield) descriptions for the Volkov-Akulov goldstino coupled to $\mathcal{N} = 1$, D = 4 supergravity with matter produce similar wide classes of models with spontaneously broken local supersymmetry and discuss the relation between the different formulations. As with the formulations with irreducible constrained superfields, the geometric goldstino brane approach has the advantage of being manifestly off-shell supersymmetric without the need to introduce auxiliary fields. It provides an explicit solution of the nilpotent superfield constraints and avoids issues with non-Gaussian integration of auxiliary fields. We describe general couplings of the supersymmetry breaking sector, including the goldstino and other non-supersymmetric matter, to supergravity and matter supermultiplets. Among various examples, we discuss a goldstino brane contribution to the gravitino mass term and the supersymmetrization of the anti-D3-brane contribution to the effective theory of type IIB warped flux compactifications.

KEYWORDS: D-branes, Supergravity Models, Supersymmetry Breaking

ARXIV EPRINT: 1608.05908

Dedicated to the memory of Mario Tonin



Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	Brany nature of Volkov-Akulov model and its coupling to supergravity	3
3	Description of the goldstino in terms of constrained superfields	6
	3.1 Spinor goldstino superfields	6
	3.2 Scalar goldstino superfields	7
	3.3 Equivalence of the goldstino superfields	8
	3.4 Constrained goldstino superfields in supergravity	11
	3.5 Reducible goldstino superfields	12
	3.6 Goldstino brane Lagrangian and goldstino superfields	14
4	Coupling the goldstino to old minimal supergravity with matter	15
	4.1 Reducible nilpotent chiral superfield couplings	17
	4.2 Couplings of the irreducible constrained superfields	19
	4.3 Goldstino brane couplings	22
5	Brane contribution to the gravitino mass and special minimal supergrav-	-
	ity	24
6	Adding matter fields on the brane worldvolume	26
7	$4D$ effective action for a $\overline{D3}$ -brane in flux compactifications of type IIB	3
	string theory	2 8
	7.1 Type IIB compactification background	28
	7.2 $\overline{\text{D3}}$ -brane contribution: bosonic fields	30
	7.3 $\overline{\text{D3}}$ -brane contribution: goldstino and other fermions	31
8	Conclusion	32
\mathbf{A}	Classical consistency of the unitary gauge	32
в	The $\overline{\text{D3}}$ -brane potential: some explicit cases	34

1 Introduction

As is well known, in field theory spontaneous breaking of rigid supersymmetry manifests itself in the presence of massless fermionic spinor fields, Volkov-Akulov goldstini [1–3]. In supergravity the goldstini generate a positive contribution to the cosmological constant

and, upon having being "eaten" by gravitini, provide a mass to the latter [4, 5]. Mechanisms realizing supersymmetry breaking effects in globally and locally supersymmetric models have been an important subject of intensive research since the very discovery of supersymmetry and supergravity [1, 4–9]. Their understanding is indispensable for the construction of phenomenologically relevant supersymmetric models of fundamental interactions and cosmology in which the role of the goldstini has recently undergone a thorough reconsideration, see, e.g., [10–16] and references therein.

There are two approaches to describe goldstini and their couplings to other fields in the theory. The first one, used in the original papers by Volkov and Akulov [1–3], is the geometrical method of non-linear realizations of spontaneously broken symmetries [17–19]. This formulation is directly related to mechanisms of spontaneous symmetry breaking caused by extended dynamical objects such as branes in string theory [20, 21]. The second approach, in which the goldstini are considered as components of constrained superfields [22–29], is more related to conventional superfield constructions of supersymmetric theories, since a priori the superfields transform linearly under supersymmetry but due to constraints their independent components, including the goldstino, transform non-linearly. The emergence of the constraints may also be viewed as an effective field theory limit in which certain mass parameters become very large and the corresponding modes decouple. The constrained superfield description has been used in the most of recent literature on spontaneous supersymmetry breaking in supergravity (see e.g. [29–43] and references therein).

In [44] it has been shown how the Volkov-Akulov ideas have a natural brane incarnation in a locally supersymmetric context. In this approach one introduces a (space-filling) brane supporting the goldstino, henceforth dubbed *goldstino brane*, which couples in a manifestly locally supersymmetric way to the 'bulk' supergeometry, i.e. to the gravity multiplet.

One of the main purposes of this paper is to illustrate how the goldstino brane allows one to easily couple the goldstino to arbitrary matter as well. As we will discuss in detail, one can couple the goldstino to 'bulk' supersymmetric matter or 'non(linearly)supersymmetric' matter¹ propagating on the goldstino brane itself. In particular, we will show how in this geometric framework one can naturally generate a supersymmetry breaking contribution to the gravitino mass, while the construction of such a term with the constrained superfields requires the use of a so called special minimal (3-form) formulation [45, 46] of $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supergravity whose coupling to matter is more restricted.

Let us stress that the goldstino brane may have a more fundamental origin, as in some stringy constructions with anti-D-branes in flux compactifications, but it may also be interpreted as an auxiliary geometric object, if the microscopic origin of the supersymmetry breaking has nothing to do with branes in a higher-dimensional theory.

Another main purpose of this paper is to clarify the inter-relation between the goldstino brane approach and the formulations that use different constrained superfields. In the rigid supersymmetry case, the similar question on the equivalence between the different descriptions of the goldstino in the absence of matter was addressed in [22-26] and the

¹We call matter fields non-supersymmetric if they do not form a linear supermultiplet, i.e. supersymmetry is realised non-linearly on such fields.

explicit form of the non-linear field redefinitions relating the different formulations were derived in [47, 48]. We will extend these results to a more general framework of matter coupled supergravity and show that all these formulations are equivalent to each other (modulo the example of the gravitino mass term of section 5) and describe similar general couplings of the goldstino to supergravity and matter, but one or another of them, like the goldstino brane, may be more suitable for the construction of specific effective models with spontaneously broken supersymmetry.

In particular, as we will see, the explicit non-linear relations between different forms of the goldstino in the presence of gravity and matter are given by relations that express a given constrained goldstino superfield in terms of any other, among which a scalar nilpotent superfield is a direct superfield extension of the original Volkov-Akulov Lagrangian. We will also show that the nilpotent chiral superfield studied in [27, 28] is reducible in the sense that it is the sum of the nilpotent chiral superfield of Roček [24] and another chiral matter superfield satisfying a generalized nilpotency constraint.

The paper is organized according to its table of Contents. We mainly use notation and conventions similar to that in [49].

2 Brany nature of Volkov-Akulov model and its coupling to supergravity

To construct the supersymmetric action for a spin-1/2 goldstone field Volkov and Akulov introduced [1–3], for the first time, the notion of superspace $M^{4|4}$ associated with the supertranslation generators of the super-Poincaré algebra and parametrised by four bosonic space-time coordinates x^m (m = 0, 1, 2, 3) and four anti-commuting Weyl-spinor coordinates θ^{α} and $\bar{\theta}^{\dot{\alpha}}$ ($\alpha, \dot{\alpha} = 1, 2$). The flat superspace coordinates transform under the Poincaré supersymmetry with parameters ϵ^{α} and $\bar{\epsilon}^{\dot{\alpha}}$ in a conventional way

$$\delta\theta^{\alpha} = \epsilon^{\alpha}, \qquad \delta\bar{\theta}^{\dot{\alpha}} = \bar{\epsilon}^{\dot{\alpha}}, \\ \delta x^{m} = i(\theta\sigma^{m}\bar{\epsilon} - \epsilon\sigma^{m}\bar{\theta}).$$
(2.1)

Next, Volkov and Akulov constructed the superinvariant Cartan one-form

$$E_0^m = \mathrm{d}x^m + \mathrm{i}(\theta\sigma^m\mathrm{d}\bar{\theta} - \mathrm{d}\theta\sigma^m\bar{\theta}) \tag{2.2}$$

and assumed that θ and $\overline{\theta}$ are actually fields in a four-dimensional subspace of $M^{4|4}$ depending on x^m . In other words, they considered a map of a four-dimensional surface \mathcal{M}^4 into the $M^{4|4}$ target superspace. A priori, the surface \mathcal{M}^4 can be parametrised by an independent set of four coordinates ξ^i such that its embedding into $M^{4|4}$ is described by the functions $x^m(\xi)$, $\theta^{\alpha}(\xi)$ and $\overline{\theta}^{\dot{\alpha}}(\xi)$. However, assuming the \mathcal{M}^4 diffeomorphism invariance of the embedding, one can always choose the \mathcal{M}^4 coordinate system (i.e. impose the so-called static gauge) in such a way that

$$x^m = \delta^m_i \,\xi^i. \tag{2.3}$$

In what follows we will use both the diffeomorphism invariant embedding description and the static gauge. From the modern perspective this model describes just a space-filling 3-brane propagating in a flat $\mathcal{N} = 1$, D = 4 superspace and carrying the goldstone field

$$\chi^{\alpha}(x) = f\theta^{\alpha}(x), \qquad (2.4)$$

where f is a constant parameter of dimension of mass m^2 which characterizes the supersymmetry breaking scale (and the brane tension $T = f^2$).

Note that, at this level, such a brane can be considered as an auxiliary object which is useful for describing the goldstino and, as we will see, for coupling it to other supersymmetric or non-supersymmetric matter. On the other hand, this brane acquires a more fundamental interpretation if the goldstino is associated to a physical brane in a higherdimensional UV completion of the theory as has been extensively discussed in the literature (see e.g. [50–59] and references therein).

The field $\chi^{\alpha}(x)$ has the canonical dimension of $m^{\frac{3}{2}}$ and transforms under the supersymmetry variation (2.1) non-linearly as a goldstone field

$$\delta\chi^{\alpha} = f\epsilon^{\alpha} - \delta x^{m}\partial_{m}\chi^{\alpha} = f\epsilon^{\alpha} + \mathrm{i}f^{-1}(\epsilon\sigma^{m}\bar{\chi} - \chi\sigma^{m}\bar{\epsilon})\partial_{m}\chi^{\alpha}.$$
(2.5)

It is worth noting that the commutator of these transformations closes on space-time translations *off the mass shell*, i.e. without the use of the goldstino equations of motion. This implies that there is no issue with the construction of supersymmetric couplings of the Volkov-Akulov goldstino to other fields which would otherwise require the use of auxiliary fields.

The supersymmetric Volkov-Akulov action is constructed as the 3-brane worldvolume integral

$$S_{\rm VA} = -f^2 \int d^4x \sqrt{-\det g_{mn}} = -f^2 \int d^4x \det \mathbb{E}_{0\,m}{}^a, \qquad (2.6)$$

where

$$g_{mn} = \mathbb{E}_{0\,m}{}^a \eta_{ab} \mathbb{E}_{0\,n}{}^b \tag{2.7}$$

is the induced worldvolume metric and

$$\mathbb{E}_{0\,m}{}^{a} = \delta^{a}_{m} + \mathrm{i}(\theta\sigma^{a}\partial_{m}\bar{\theta} - \partial_{m}\theta\sigma^{a}\bar{\theta}) = \delta^{a}_{m} + \mathrm{i}f^{-2}(\chi\sigma^{a}\partial_{m}\bar{\chi} - \partial_{m}\chi\sigma^{a}\bar{\chi})$$
(2.8)

are the components of the pullback on the brane worldvolume of the Volkov-Akulov one-form (2.2).

The leading terms in the action (2.6) are

$$S_{\rm VA} = -\int d^4x (f^2 + i\chi\sigma^m\partial_m\bar{\chi} - i\partial_m\chi\sigma^m\bar{\chi} + \ldots).$$
(2.9)

From the above expression we see that the overall sign in the Volkov-Akulov action is chosen in such a way that the goldstino kinetic term has the correct sign, then the first (constant) term in (2.9) becomes a positive (de Sitter) cosmological constant when the Volkov-Akulov action couples to supergravity. This explains the origin of the positive contribution to the cosmological constant in supergravity theories with spontaneously broken supersymmetry. The action (2.6) is written in the static gauge (2.3). Its worldvolume diffeomorphism invariant counterpart is

$$S_{\rm VA} = -f^2 \int d^4\xi \, \det E_{0\,i}{}^a(x(\xi), \theta(\xi), \bar{\theta}(\xi)) \,. \tag{2.10}$$

Using the interpretation of the Volkov-Akulov action as that of the space-filling 3brane, the *goldstino brane*, it is straightforward to couple it to $\mathcal{N} = 1$, D = 4 supergravity, for instance to the old minimal one, using the superfield approach [44].² In the superfield formulation of supergravity the flat superspace vielbein (2.2) gets generalized to a curved superspace one

$$E^{a}(z) = dz^{M} E^{a}_{M}(z) = dx^{m} E^{a}_{m} + d\theta^{\mu} E^{a}_{\mu} + d\bar{\theta}^{\dot{\mu}} E^{a}_{\dot{\mu}}, \qquad z^{M} = (x^{m}, \theta^{\mu}, \bar{\theta}^{\dot{\mu}}), \qquad (2.11)$$

where a = 0, 1, 2, 3 are vector tangent-space indices. The vector supervielbein $E^{a}(z)$ and its spinorial partners

$$E^{\alpha}(z) = \mathrm{d}z^{M} E^{\alpha}_{M}(z), \qquad \bar{E}^{\alpha}(z) = \mathrm{d}z^{M} \bar{E}^{\dot{\alpha}}_{M}(z) \tag{2.12}$$

are subject to certain torsion constraints. As components in their $(\theta, \bar{\theta})$ -expansion the supervielbeins contain the fields of the supergravity multiplet, the graviton $e_m^a(x)$, the gravitino $\psi_m^{\alpha}(x), \bar{\psi}_m^{\dot{\alpha}}(x)$, the complex scalar auxiliary field R(x) and the auxiliary vector field $G_a(x)$. The auxiliary fields are the leading components of the chiral scalar supergravity superfield R(z) and the vector superfield $G_a(z)$, respectively.³ An explicit form of (2.11) and (2.12) in a Wess-Zumino gauge was computed to all orders in θ s and $\bar{\theta}$ s in [44].

The coupling of the goldstino brane to supergravity is described by the following action [44]

$$S = -\frac{3}{\kappa^2} \int d^8 z \operatorname{Ber} E - \frac{m}{\kappa^2} \left(\int d^6 \zeta_L \mathcal{E} + \text{c.c.} \right) - f^2 \int d^4 \xi \det \mathbb{E}_i^a(z(\xi)) , \qquad (2.13)$$

where κ^2 is the gravitational coupling constant, the first term is the $\mathcal{N} = 1$, D = 4supergravity action given as the volume of the full curved superspace $\mathcal{M}^{4|4}$ with Ber E being the superdeterminant of the supervielbein matrix E_M^A (2.11)–(2.12),⁴ the second term is a chiral superspace volume with a measure \mathcal{E} , m is the gravitino mass which also defines the value of the supersymmetry preserving AdS cosmological constant $\lambda = -\frac{3m^2}{\kappa^2}$, and the third term describes the dynamics of the goldstino brane in curved superspace. Geometrically, the latter is the direct generalization of the flat space Volkov-Akulov action (2.10) with $\mathbb{E}_i^a(z(\xi))$ being the pullback of the supervielbein (2.11) on the 3-brane worldvolume, namely

$$\mathbb{E}_{i}^{a}(z(\xi)) = \partial_{i}x^{m}(\xi)E_{m}^{a}(z(\xi)) + \partial_{i}\theta^{\alpha}(\xi)E_{\alpha}^{a}(z(\xi)) + \partial_{i}\bar{\theta}^{\dot{\alpha}}(\xi)E_{\dot{\alpha}}^{a}(z(\xi)).$$
(2.14)

²In this paper we will restrict the consideration to the old minimal $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supergravity (except for a brief discussion of special minimal supergravity in section 5), but it can be straightforwardly extended to other off-shell supergravity multiplets by choosing appropriate sets of superfield supergravity constraints.

³For details on the superfield description of $\mathcal{N} = 1$, D = 4 supergravity see e.g. [60–66] and [49]. The earliest references on this subject are [67–72].

⁴Ber stands for *Berezenian*, the name for the superdeterminant which is used to give credit to Felix Berezin, the founder of 'supermathematics'.

The third term in (2.13) is invariant under the worldvolume diffeomorphisms $\xi'^i = f^i(\xi)$ which, as we have already mentioned, can be used to identify the worldvolume parameters ξ^i with the space-time coordinates x^m by imposing the static gauge (2.3).

The local supersymmetry transformations of the goldstino field $\theta(x) = f^{-1}\chi(x)$ derived in [44] in the Wess-Zumino gauge have the following form

$$\delta\theta^{\alpha} = \epsilon^{\alpha}(x) + i\left(\epsilon\sigma^{m}\bar{\theta} - \theta\sigma^{m}\bar{\epsilon}\right) \left[\psi^{\alpha}_{m} + \nabla_{m}\theta^{\alpha} - i\left(\theta\sigma^{n}\bar{\psi}_{m} - \psi_{m}\sigma^{n}\bar{\theta}\right)\left(\psi^{\alpha}_{n} + \nabla_{n}\theta^{\alpha}\right)\right] \\ - \frac{1}{16}\left(\epsilon\sigma^{a}\bar{\theta} - \theta\sigma^{a}\bar{\epsilon}\right) \left[2\theta^{\alpha}G_{a} + (\theta\sigma_{ab})^{\alpha}G^{b} + 2(\bar{\theta}\tilde{\sigma}_{a})^{\alpha}R\right] + \dots,$$

$$(2.15)$$

where $\nabla_m = \partial_m + \omega_m(x)$ is a covariant derivative containing a spin connection $\omega_m^{ab}(x)$ and ... stand for higher order terms in the fields. Equation (2.15) reduces to (2.5) in the flat space limit.

3 Description of the goldstino in terms of constrained superfields

An alternative way to describe the goldstino is to use a superfield in which the only independent component is the goldstino itself while its superpartners are composites of the goldstino. So the goldstino superfield is constrained. A priori, the superfield transforms linearly under supersymmetry. The non-linear transformation of the goldstino is obtained by solving the superfield constraints. This construction is based on the general relation between linear and non-linear realizations of supersymmetry put forward in [22, 23, 73] (see [74] for a recent review).

3.1 Spinor goldstino superfields

The goldstino may be embedded in a spinor superfield as its lowest component in the expansion in powers of the Grassmann variables. In order for such a superfield to possess no additional degrees of freedom, its spinor covariant derivatives must be some functions of this superfield and its spacetime derivatives.

A direct way of obtaining a constrained spinor superfield containing the goldstino is to act on the latter with a finite supersymmetry transformation whose parameters depend on the superspace coordinates [22, 23, 26]

$$\Xi_{\alpha}(x,\theta,\bar{\theta}) = \mathrm{e}^{\mathrm{i}(\theta^{\beta}Q_{\beta}+\bar{\theta}_{\dot{\beta}}\bar{Q}^{\dot{\beta}})}\chi_{\alpha}(y), \qquad x^{m} \equiv y^{m} + \mathrm{i}f^{-2}\chi(y)\sigma^{m}\bar{\chi}(y), \qquad (3.1)$$

where y^m are complex coordinates, Q^{α} and $\bar{Q}_{\dot{\alpha}}$ are the supersymmetry generators, and $\xi_{\alpha}(x) \equiv \chi_{\alpha}(y)$ is a "chiral" goldstino whose supersymmetry variation involves only this field itself and not its complex conjugate

$$\delta\xi^{\alpha} = f\epsilon^{\alpha} - 2if^{-1}\xi\sigma^{m}\bar{\epsilon}\,\partial_{m}\xi_{\alpha}(x)\,. \tag{3.2}$$

This realisation for the goldstino was introduced by Zumino [75], and later it was exploited in [22–24, 26]. The superfield Ξ_{α} obeys the constraints [26]

$$D_{\alpha}\Xi_{\beta} = -f\varepsilon_{\alpha\beta}, \qquad \bar{D}_{\dot{\alpha}}\Xi_{\beta} = -2\mathrm{i}f^{-1}\Xi^{\alpha}\partial_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}\Xi_{\beta}. \qquad (3.3)$$

This superfield was introduced for the first time by Ivanov and Kapustnikov [23] although without technical details. It was further elaborated by Samuel and Wess [26], including its coupling to supergravity.

Alternatively, one can construct a spinor superfield directly from the original Volkov-Akulov goldstino [23] (see [66, 74] for reviews)

$$\Lambda_{\alpha} = e^{i(\theta^{\beta}Q_{\beta} + \bar{\theta}_{\dot{\beta}}\bar{Q}^{\beta})} \chi_{\alpha}(x) \,. \tag{3.4}$$

It obeys the constraints

$$D_{\alpha}\Lambda_{\beta} = -f\varepsilon_{\alpha\beta} - \mathrm{i}f^{-1}\bar{\Lambda}^{\dot{\alpha}}\partial_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}\Lambda_{\beta}, \qquad \bar{D}_{\dot{\alpha}}\Lambda_{\beta} = -\mathrm{i}f^{-1}\Lambda^{\alpha}\partial_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}\Lambda_{\beta}.$$
(3.5)

One can also consider a chiral spinor goldstino superfield Ψ_{α} [23, 76] subject to the constraints [76]

$$D_{\alpha}\Psi_{\beta} = -f\varepsilon_{\alpha\beta} + 2\mathrm{i}f^{-1}\bar{\Xi}^{\dot{\alpha}}\partial_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}\Psi_{\beta}, \qquad \bar{D}_{\dot{\alpha}}\Psi_{\beta} = 0.$$
(3.6)

It may be shown that Ξ_{α} and Ψ_{α} are related to each other, and hence $D_{\alpha}\Psi_{\beta}$ can be expressed solely in terms of the superfields Ψ_{γ} and $\bar{\Psi}_{\dot{\beta}}$. However such an expression is less compact than the first relation in (3.6).

The spinor fields $\xi_{\alpha}(x) := \Xi_{\alpha}|_{\theta=\bar{\theta}=0}$ and $\psi_{\alpha}(x) := \Psi_{\alpha}|_{\theta=\bar{\theta}=0}$ naturally originate if one makes use of the coset parametrisation [76]

$$g(x,\xi(x),\bar{\psi}(x)) = e^{i(-x^a P_a + f^{-1}\xi^{\alpha}(x)Q_{\alpha})} e^{if^{-1}\bar{\psi}_{\dot{\alpha}}(x)\bar{Q}^{\dot{\alpha}}}$$
(3.7)

in the framework of nonlinear realisations of $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supersymmetry described in [22, 23, 26]. The fields ξ_{α} and $\bar{\psi}_{\dot{\alpha}}$ are related to the goldstino χ_{α} and $\bar{\chi}_{\dot{\alpha}}$ by

$$\xi_{\alpha}(x) = \chi_{\alpha}(y), \qquad \bar{\psi}_{\dot{\alpha}}(x) = \bar{\chi}_{\dot{\alpha}}(y), \qquad y^m = x^m - \mathrm{i}f^{-2}\chi(y)\sigma^m\bar{\chi}(y). \tag{3.8}$$

Conversely,

$$\chi_{\alpha}(x) = \xi_{\alpha}(\hat{y}), \qquad \bar{\chi}_{\dot{\alpha}}(x) = \bar{\psi}_{\dot{\alpha}}(\hat{y}), \qquad \hat{y}^m = x^m + \mathrm{i}f^{-2}\xi(\hat{y})\sigma^m\bar{\psi}(\hat{y}). \tag{3.9}$$

These relations imply that the three different descriptions of the goldstino in terms of Ξ_{α} , Λ_{α} and Ψ_{α} are equivalent. Given one of them, say Ξ_{α} , the other superfields, Λ_{α} and Ψ_{α} , may be realised as composites of Ξ_{α} , $\bar{\Xi}_{\dot{\alpha}}$ and their covariant deirvavtives. For instance, the chiral spinor superfield Ψ_{α} is expressed in terms of Ξ_{α} and its conjugate in a remarkably simple way:

$$\Psi_{\alpha} = -\frac{1}{4f^2} \bar{D}^2(\Xi_{\alpha} \bar{\Xi}^2) \,. \tag{3.10}$$

3.2 Scalar goldstino superfields

There are three standard scalar superfields to describe the goldstino. The oldest of them is the nilpotent chiral scalar X introduced in [23, 24]. It obeys the constraints⁵ [24]

$$\bar{D}_{\dot{\alpha}}X = 0, \qquad X^2 = 0, \qquad -\frac{1}{4}X\bar{D}^2\bar{X} = fX.$$
 (3.11)

⁵The factor -1/4 in the last expression of (3.11) is chosen for convenience, since in our conventions $-\frac{1}{4}\bar{D}^2\,\bar{\theta}^2 = 1$ and hence $-\frac{1}{4}\bar{D}^2\,\bar{X}|_{\bar{\theta}=0} = \bar{F}_x$ singles out the auxiliary field component of \bar{X} .

Another option, which is naturally related to Roček's construction [24], is the real scalar superfield \mathcal{V} introduced in [25]. It is constructed as the composite

$$\mathcal{V} = \frac{1}{f^2} \bar{X} X \tag{3.12}$$

and obeys the constraints

$$\mathcal{V}^2 = 0, \qquad \frac{1}{16} \mathcal{V} D^\alpha \bar{D}^2 D_\alpha \mathcal{V} = \mathcal{V}, \qquad (3.13)$$

as well as some additional constraints which will be discussed in more detail around eqs. (3.23). As will be shown in section 3.6, the scalar superfield \mathcal{V} is nothing but a superfield extension of the original Volkov-Akulov Lagrangian.

Equation (3.12) expresses \mathcal{V} as a descendant of X and \overline{X} . In its turn, X can be thought of as a descendant of \mathcal{V} , namely

$$X = -\frac{f}{4}\bar{D}^2\mathcal{V}.$$
(3.14)

The third realisation is a modified complex linear superfield introduced in [29]. It satisfies the following constraints

$$-\frac{1}{4}\bar{D}^{2}\Sigma = f, \qquad \Sigma^{2} = 0, \qquad -\frac{1}{4}\Sigma\bar{D}^{2}D_{\alpha}\Sigma = fD_{\alpha}\Sigma.$$
(3.15)

The goldstino superfields X and V can both be read off from Σ and Σ as follows:

$$fX = -\frac{1}{4}\bar{D}^2(\bar{\Sigma}\Sigma), \qquad \mathcal{V} = \frac{1}{f^2}\bar{\Sigma}\Sigma.$$
 (3.16)

These relations show that, in a sense, Σ is the simplest scalar goldstino superfield.

The first constraint in (3.15) defines the so-called *modified* complex linear superfield. In fact, the goldstino can also be embedded in a standard complex linear superfield Γ $(\bar{D}^2\Gamma = 0)$, subject to additional constraints. Such a goldstino superfield was constructed in 2011 by Tyler, as explained in [77]. Later it was discussed, albeit in an incomplete form, in [78]. The complete set of the constraints is

$$\bar{D}^2 \Gamma = 0, \qquad \Gamma^2 = 0, \qquad -\frac{1}{4} \Gamma \bar{D}^2 \bar{\Gamma} = f \Gamma, \qquad (3.17)$$

where the last constraint was not given in [78]. This goldstino superfield is naturally expressed in terms of Σ and its conjugate as follows [77]:

$$\Gamma = \bar{\Sigma} - \frac{1}{4f} (\bar{D}_{\dot{\alpha}} \Sigma) \bar{D}^{\dot{\alpha}} \bar{\Sigma} \,. \tag{3.18}$$

3.3 Equivalence of the goldstino superfields

As one might already deduce from the discussion in the previous two subsections, all the spinor and scalar goldstino superfields considered therein are equivalent to each other. Given one of them, e.g., the complex linear superfield Σ (3.15), the other goldstino superfields may be realiased as composites constructed from Σ , its conjugate $\overline{\Sigma}$ and their

covariant derivatives. The equations (3.16) provide such relations for the goldstino superfield X and \mathcal{V} . We also can readily express the spinor goldstino superfield Ξ_{α} defined by the constraints (3.3) in terms of Σ and $\overline{\Sigma}$. The corresponding relations were given in [29]. They are

$$\Xi_{\alpha} = \frac{1}{2} D_{\alpha} \bar{\Sigma} , \qquad \bar{\Xi}_{\dot{\alpha}} = \frac{1}{2} \bar{D}_{\dot{\alpha}} \Sigma , \qquad (3.19)$$

On the other hand, the superfield Σ is constructed from $\bar{\Xi}_{\dot{\alpha}}$ by the rule [29]

$$f\Sigma = \bar{\Xi}_{\dot{\alpha}} \bar{\Xi}^{\dot{\alpha}} . \tag{3.20}$$

It is worth comparing this simple result with the expression for X in terms of the chiral spinor goldstino superfield Ψ_{α} , eq. (3.6), which was derived in [76]:

$$fX = \Psi^{\alpha}\Psi_{\alpha} \,. \tag{3.21}$$

The above composites, which express one goldstino superfield in terms of a different one, are polynomial. A rational expression emerges if one wishes to express, e.g., Ξ_{α} via X. Making use of an observation in [79], we obtain

$$\Xi_{\alpha} = -2f \frac{D_{\alpha} X}{D^2 X} \,. \tag{3.22}$$

The relations (3.20) and (3.22) allow us to express Σ in terms of X, \overline{X} and their covariant derivatives, or in terms of \mathcal{V} with the use of eq. (3.14), and so on and so forth.

The following comment is in order. As one could have noticed from the above relations, all the nilpotent scalar superfields are composites of spinor superfields. This just reflects a simple fact that in the physical theory in which (due to the spin statistics-correspondence) the spinor components form a basis of the odd elements of the Grassmann algebra, the even (e.g.) scalar nilpotent quantities should be composed of Grassmann-odd spinors in a Lorentz-covariant way. With this assumption, for instance the nilpotency constraint in (3.13) for the real scalar superfield V is solved by the ansatz $\mathcal{V} = \mathcal{F}^{\alpha}\mathcal{F}_{\alpha}\bar{\mathcal{F}}_{\dot{\alpha}}\bar{\mathcal{F}}^{\dot{\alpha}} = C\bar{C}$, where \mathcal{F}_{α} is an arbitrary Grassmann-odd spinor superfield and $C = \mathcal{F}^2$ is a nilpotent complex scalar superfield of even Grassmann parity.

On the other hand, the constraint $\mathcal{V}^2 = 0$ is also solved by $\mathcal{V} = \eta \bar{\eta}$, where η is a Grassmann-odd complex scalar superfield ($\eta^2 \equiv 0$). To exclude such unphysical solutions from the consideration one should impose additional constraints on \mathcal{V} , which are identically satisfied by the physical solution $\mathcal{V} = C\bar{C}$ and are not satisfied by $V = \eta \bar{\eta}$. These are

$$\mathcal{V}D_A D_B \mathcal{V} = 0, \qquad \mathcal{V}D_A D_B D_C \mathcal{V} = 0, \qquad (3.23)$$

where $D_A = (\partial_a, D_\alpha, \bar{D}_{\dot{\alpha}})$. Then, the constraints (3.13) accompanied by (3.23) single out \mathcal{V} which is expressed in terms of the other goldstino superfields as discussed above. One may check that the constraints (3.13) and (3.23) allow one to express all the components of \mathcal{V} in terms of the goldstino field identified with $-\frac{1}{4}\bar{D}^2 D_\alpha \mathcal{V}|_{\theta=0}$.

Making use of the constraints (3.13) and (3.23), one may show that

$$\mathcal{V} = \mathcal{W}^{\alpha} \mathcal{W}_{\alpha} \bar{\mathcal{W}}_{\dot{\alpha}} \bar{\mathcal{W}}^{\dot{\alpha}} , \qquad \mathcal{W}_{\alpha} = -\frac{1}{4} \bar{D}^2 D_{\alpha} \mathcal{V} . \qquad (3.24)$$

The constraint, which one has to use in order to prove this result, is

$$\mathcal{V}\mathcal{W}_{\alpha} = 0\,,\tag{3.25}$$

which is a special case of (3.23).

The relations between the different constrained superfields can be used to find in a straightforward way the non-linear field redefinitions from one realization of the goldstino to another. A general form of such field redefinitions was obtained in [47, 48] in a different way by comparing all the known component versions of the Volkov-Akulov action. Such a procedure can hardly be directly generalized to the case of couplings of the goldstini to supergravity and matter multiplets. On the other hand the use of the relations between the constrained superfields still allows one to get such relations. One should only properly generalize the constraints to the curved superspace [25, 26, 29] as will be reviewed in section 3.4.

In spite of the fact that all the goldstino superfields are equivalent, some of them turn out to be preferable when one is interested, e.g., in their couplings to supergravity and supersymmetric matter. In this respect, the scalar goldstino superfields are more suitable than the spinor ones, as was already noticed in [26]. The goldstino superfields X and \mathcal{V} were coupled to pure supergravity in [25], and their simple couplings to supersymmetric matter were given in [26]. The goldstino superfield Σ has been coupled both to supergravity and chiral matter superfields [29, 35]. We will consider these couplings in more detail in sections 3.4 and 4.2.

To conclude our review of the known goldstino superfields, we give three different, but equivalent forms of the goldstino action:

$$S = -f^2 \int \mathrm{d}^4 x \mathrm{d}^2 \theta \mathrm{d}^2 \bar{\theta} \,\mathcal{V} \tag{3.26a}$$

$$= -\int \mathrm{d}^4 x \mathrm{d}^2 \theta \mathrm{d}^2 \bar{\theta} \,\bar{\Sigma} \Sigma \tag{3.26b}$$

$$= -\frac{1}{2} \int \mathrm{d}^4 x \mathrm{d}^2 \theta \, \Psi^{\alpha} \Psi_{\alpha} - \frac{1}{2} \int \mathrm{d}^4 x \mathrm{d}^2 \bar{\theta} \, \bar{\Psi}_{\dot{\alpha}} \bar{\Psi}^{\dot{\alpha}} \,. \tag{3.26c}$$

The action (3.26a), introduced in [25], has the form of the $\mathcal{N} = 1$ Fayet-Iliopoulos term. The action (3.26b), introduced in [29], coincides with the kinetic term for a complex linear superfield. Finally, the action (3.26c), introduced in [76], has the form of a mass term for the chiral spinor superfield [80].

As a final comment, let us mention that a simple generalization of the spinor goldstino superfield Ξ_{α} to $\mathcal{N} \geq 2$ spontaneously broken supersymmetry was carried out in [81]. A more general class of constrained $\mathcal{N} = 2$ goldstino superfields was studied in [76]. Other aspects of $\mathcal{N} \geq 2$ cases have been recently considered in [79].

3.4 Constrained goldstino superfields in supergravity

When coupling the goldstino superfields to supergravity one should appropriately modify their rigid supersymmetry constraints and the relations between the different superfields discussed in the previous sections. The 'general' rule, which works in most cases, is to replace flat superspace covariant derivatives with their curved superspace counterparts and the chiral projector \bar{D}^2 with $\bar{D}^2 - 4R$, namely

$$\partial_a \to \mathcal{D}_a, \qquad D_\alpha \to \mathcal{D}_\alpha \qquad \bar{D}_{\dot{\alpha}} \to \bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\dot{\alpha}}, \qquad \bar{D}^2 \to \bar{\mathcal{D}}^2 - 4R, \qquad (3.27)$$

where $(\mathcal{D}_a, \mathcal{D}_{\alpha}, \overline{\mathcal{D}}_{\dot{\alpha}})$ are supercovariant derivatives and R(z) is the chiral scalar curvature superfield. In this way Lindström and Roček [25] coupled to supergravity the superfields X and \mathcal{V} :

$$\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\dot{\alpha}}X = 0, \qquad X^2 = 0, \qquad -\frac{1}{4}X(\bar{\mathcal{D}}^2 - 4R)\bar{X} = fX; \qquad (3.28)$$

$$\mathcal{V}^2 = 0, \qquad \frac{1}{16} \mathcal{V} \mathcal{D}^{\alpha} (\bar{\mathcal{D}}^2 - 4R) \mathcal{D}_{\alpha} \mathcal{V} = \mathcal{V}. \qquad (3.29)$$

Note that, like in flat superspace, the left hand side of the second expression in (3.29) is equal to its complex conjugate.

The relation (3.14) between X and \mathcal{V} take the following form

$$X = -\frac{f}{4}(\bar{\mathcal{D}}^2 - 4R)\,\mathcal{V}\,. \tag{3.30}$$

The local supersymmetry modification of the constraints for the spinor goldstino superfield (3.3) is as follows

$$\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\dot{\alpha}}\bar{\Xi}_{\dot{\beta}} = \varepsilon_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}} \Big\{ f - f^{-1}R\bar{\Xi}^2 \Big\}, \qquad (3.31a)$$

$$\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}\bar{\Xi}_{\dot{\beta}} = f^{-1} \Big\{ 2i\bar{\Xi}^{\dot{\gamma}} \mathcal{D}_{a}\bar{\Xi}_{\dot{\beta}} - \delta^{\dot{\gamma}}_{\dot{\beta}} G_{a}\bar{\Xi}^{2} \Big\} \sigma^{a}_{\alpha\dot{\gamma}} \,. \tag{3.31b}$$

These constraints⁶ were obtained by Samuel and Wess [26] as a result of a nontrivial guess work. A straightforward way to get them is to make use of the relation (3.19) between Ξ_{α} and the complex linear superfield Σ , and the constraints (3.15) satisfied by the latter, which in the supergravity case are modified as follows [29]

$$\Xi_{\alpha} = \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{D}_{\alpha} \bar{\Sigma} \,, \qquad \bar{\Xi}_{\dot{\alpha}} = \frac{1}{2} \bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\dot{\alpha}} \Sigma \,, \tag{3.32}$$

with Σ obeying the constraints

$$-\frac{1}{4}(\bar{\mathcal{D}}^2 - 4R)\Sigma = f, \qquad \Sigma^2 = 0, \qquad -\frac{1}{4}\Sigma(\bar{\mathcal{D}}^2 - 4R)\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}\Sigma = f\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}\Sigma.$$
(3.33)

⁶The *R*-dependent term in (3.31a) and the *G*-dependent term in (3.31b) are examples of the non-minimal contributions that cannot be obtained by making use of the minimal prescription (3.27).

3.5 Reducible goldstino superfields

All the goldstino superfields considered so far are irreducible in the sense that they contain only one independent component field — the goldstino itself, while the remaining component fields are simply composites constructed from the goldstino. There also exist reducible goldstino superfields that contain several independent fields, one of which is the goldstino. A given reducible goldstino superfield can always be represented as an irreducible one plus a "matter" superfield, which contains all the component fields except for the goldstino.

As an example of reducible goldstino superfields, here we consider the nilpotent chiral scalar S studied in [27, 28]. It only satisfies the constraint

$$\bar{D}_{\dot{\alpha}}S = 0, \qquad S^2 = 0 \implies S(x,\theta,\bar{\theta}) = e^{i\theta\sigma^a\bar{\theta}\partial_a} \left\{ \frac{\lambda_s^2}{4F_s} + \theta\lambda_s + \theta^2 F_s \right\}, \qquad (3.34)$$

and thus differs from the superfield X in (3.11). In addition to the goldstino field⁷ λ_s^{α} it has the independent auxiliary field $F_s(x) = -\frac{1}{4}D^2S|_{\theta=\bar{\theta}=0}$, which is required to be nowhere vanishing, and hence $D^2S \neq 0$. It follows from (3.34) that S can be written in the form

$$S = -\frac{(D^{\alpha}S)(D_{\alpha}S)}{D^{2}S}.$$
 (3.35)

It was shown in [28, 48] that, for the pure goldstino model, the superfield S coincides with X on the mass shell when $F_s(x) - f$ is expressed in terms of the goldstino and its derivatives. As we will see, this connection can be understood and generalised by expressing S in terms of X and an additional auxiliary chiral superfield.

We start by showing, in the supergravity framework, that the nilpotent covariantly chiral scalar S,

$$\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\dot{\alpha}}S = 0, \qquad S^2 = 0$$
 (3.36)

can be represented as a sum of two covariantly chiral superfields,

$$S = X + Y \tag{3.37}$$

of which X is the nilpotent goldstino superfield (3.28) and Y is a chiral matter superfield satisfying a generalized nilpotency constraint

$$2XY + Y^2 = 0. (3.38)$$

This condition extends the class of the nilpotent superfield constraints studied so far [28, 82–85] and briefly discussed in section 4.3.

It can be directly checked that the spinor λ_y and the auxiliary field F_y of Y which solves (3.38) are independent, while its scalar component ϕ_y is expressed in terms of the goldstino λ_x of X, its derivatives and the fields λ_y and F_y .

⁷Upon elimination of the auxiliary field F_s , the goldstino field λ_s^{α} is related to the Volkov-Akulov goldstino χ^{α} , eq. (2.4), by a nonlinear field redefinition [47, 48].

The arbitrariness of λ_y in Y can be fixed in terms of F_y and λ_x by expressing X in terms of S as follows. Let us first introduce the composite superfield

$$\bar{\Xi}_{\dot{\alpha}} = -2f \frac{\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\dot{\alpha}} \bar{S}}{\bar{\mathcal{D}}^2 \bar{S}}, \qquad (3.39)$$

which reduces to the one constructed in [79] in the flat superspace limit. It proves to obey the constraint (3.31).

We are now in a position to introduce the chiral scalar X as a function of (3.39) by the standard rule

$$f^{3}X = -\frac{1}{4}(\bar{\mathcal{D}}^{2} - 4R)(\Xi^{2}\bar{\Xi}^{2}). \qquad (3.40)$$

Thus, modulo supergravity fields, the independent goldstino λ_x in X is expressed in terms of the λ_s goldstino, the auxiliary field F_s of S and their derivatives. The relation for λ_x can be inverted in the sense that λ_s can be expressed in terms of λ_x , F_s and their derivatives. Then the components of the chiral superfield Y in (3.37) and (3.38) are univocally defined in terms of λ_x and $F_s = F_x + F_y$ by Y = S - X. As a result, the only independent component of Y is the auxiliary field.

Another way to relate the superfields S and X is to notice that the nilpotency constraint in (3.34) is invariant under arbitrary rescaling of S with an unconstrained chiral superfield parameter, let us call it again Y. Then we can always represent the superfield S as follows

$$S = YX. (3.41)$$

Note that the superfield Y is determined modulo a gauge transformation

$$Y \rightarrow Y + \Delta Y,$$
 (3.42)

where ΔY is a chiral superfield satisfying the constraint $X\Delta Y = 0$.

Consider now the action for the superfield S [27, 28]

$$S = \int d^4x d^2\theta d^2\bar{\theta} S\bar{S} - \left(\int d^4x d^2\theta f S + \text{c.c.}\right).$$
(3.43)

We see that, assuming that the superfield S be the composite (3.41), the action (3.43) describes the coupling of the nilpotent superfield X to the auxiliary chiral superfield Y with the Kähler potential $K = Y\bar{Y}X\bar{X}$ and the superpotential W = -fYX. The superfield Y can be easily integrated out by solving its equation of motion

$$-\frac{1}{4}X\bar{D}^{2}(\bar{Y}\bar{X}) = fX. \qquad (3.44)$$

Multiplying the above equation by Y we see that S = YX satisfies the same constraint as X, eq. (3.11). Therefore, as one can directly check, the general solution of (3.44) is

$$Y = 1 + C, (3.45)$$

where the chiral superfield C is constrained by the condition CX = 0. Thus, on the mass shell Y is equal to unity modulo the gauge transformation (3.42).

Upon substituting this solution into (3.43) the action reduces to that for the irreducible nilpotent superfield X [24]. This demonstrates from yet another perspective the relation between the two descriptions of the goldstino.

In [27, 28] the nilpotent superfield S was regarded to be the most suitable for the description of couplings of the goldstino to matter and supergravity multiplets, since if one deals with the other constrained superfields these couplings require modifications of their constraints, as was discussed in section 3.4. So, though the coupling of the constrained superfields X (3.11), \mathcal{V} (3.13) and Ξ_{α} (3.1) to supergravity was considered already in [25, 26, 73, 86] and their quite general couplings to matter in [26], the most of recent work on the description of spontaneous supersymmetry breaking in a generic matter-coupled $\mathcal{N} = 1$, D = 4 supergravity uses the nilpotent chiral superfield S of [27, 28] (see e.g. [30–34, 36–38, 40–42] and references therein). A complication one should deal with in this case is the necessity to perform a non-Gaussian integration of the auxiliary field F (or the superfield Y) when deriving the component actions that only involve physical fields (see [32, 33, 40, 41] and references therein).

3.6 Goldstino brane Lagrangian and goldstino superfields

To complete the discussion of the equivalence of the different formulations, we will now show that the nilpotent scalar superfield \mathcal{V} (3.13) is nothing but a superfield extension of the original Volkov-Akulov Lagrangian (2.6) or its goldstino brane extension to supergravity (2.13). To this end, let us remind that the different forms of the component goldstino action associated to one or another constrained superfield are obtained from the superfield action (3.26a) where \mathcal{V} is either considered as the constrained real scalar superfield (3.13), or as the composite constructed from other constrained superfields, e.g. (3.12) or (3.16).

When coupled to supergravity, the action (3.26a) takes the form

$$S = -f^2 \int \mathrm{d}^8 z \operatorname{Ber} E \mathcal{V} \,. \tag{3.46}$$

Now we notice that also the original worldvolume diffeomorphism invariant Volkov-Akulov action (2.10) can be rewritten as an integral in the bulk superspace with the use of the Dirac delta-function and the delta-functions of the Grassmann-odd coordinates $\delta^2(\theta - \theta_0) \equiv (\theta - \theta_0)^2$ and $\delta^2(\bar{\theta} - \bar{\theta}_0) \equiv (\bar{\theta} - \bar{\theta}_0)^2$

$$S_{\rm VA} = -f^2 \int d^8 z \left[\int d^4 \xi \, (\theta - \theta(\xi))^2 (\bar{\theta} - \bar{\theta}(\xi))^2 \, \delta^4(x - x(\xi)) \det E_{0\,i}{}^a(z(\xi)) \right]. \tag{3.47}$$

Upon integrating the above expression over the worldvolume coordinates, which effectively picks up a static gauge, we get

$$S_{\rm VA} = -f^2 \int d^8 z \, (\theta - f^{-1} \chi(x))^2 (\bar{\theta} - f^{-1} \bar{\chi}(x))^2 \, \det E_{0\,m}{}^a(\chi, \bar{\chi}) \equiv \int d^8 z \, \mathcal{V} \qquad (3.48)$$

in which we made the substitution

$$\theta(\xi(x)) = f^{-1}\chi(x), \qquad \bar{\theta}(\xi(x)) = f^{-1}\bar{\chi}(x).$$
 (3.49)

In $\mathcal{N} = (1, 1)$, D = 2 case the Volkov-Akulov action was written in a form similar to (3.48) in [24] and in the D = 4 case the form of \mathcal{V} defined in (3.48) was discussed in [87].

The generalization of (3.47) and (3.48) to the curved superspace goldstino brane action (2.13) has the same form as (3.46), where

$$\mathcal{V} = \int d^4\xi \,\delta^8(z - z(\xi)) \,\frac{\det \mathbb{E}(z(\xi))}{\operatorname{Ber} E(z(\xi))}.$$
(3.50)

Finally, upon integrating (3.50) over the worldvolume and using (3.49) we get

$$\mathcal{V} = (\theta - f^{-1}\chi(x))^2 (\bar{\theta} - f^{-1}\bar{\chi}(x))^2 \frac{\det \mathbb{E}(z(x))}{\operatorname{Ber} E(z(x))}, \quad z(x) = (x, f^{-1}\chi(x), f^{-1}\bar{\chi}(x)). \quad (3.51)$$

By construction (3.50) (or (3.51)) transforms as a scalar superfield which can thus be identified with the constrained scalar superfield in (3.46). Indeed, one can directly check (e.g. in the flat case (Ber E = 1)) that the nilpotent superfield \mathcal{V} taken in the form (3.51) satisfies the constraints (3.29) and the relations to all the other constrained superfields discussed above. For instance, given (3.51) one gets the chiral nilpotent superfield X = $-\frac{1}{4}(\bar{\mathcal{D}}^2-4R)\mathcal{V}$ satisfying (3.28). So, working with the goldstino brane, or equivalently with \mathcal{V} in the form (3.51), simplifies the construction since in this formulation all the superfield constraints are solved and one does not need to care about them when considering a general coupling of the goldstino to supergravity in the presence of matter in the bulk (see [42] for the discussion on the incorporation of the superfield constraints into the goldstino actions as Lagrange multiplier terms). In addition, as we will discuss in the following sections, one can directly couple the goldstino to fields propagating in the brane worldvolume such as Born-Infeld vector fields, and scalar and fermion modes associated with extra dimensions. This should be useful for establishing a more direct relation of brane constructions in string theory with four-dimensional effective field theory models of spontaneous supersymmetry breaking, which is a topic of a great interest and importance (see e.g. [12, 50-59]).

4 Coupling the goldstino to old minimal supergravity with matter

We will now consider how the goldstino couples to old minimal $\mathcal{N} = 1$, D = 4 supergravity and matter supermultiplets in different descriptions of the former and show that these different descriptions result in similar supersymmetry breaking terms. In subsection 5 we will also briefly discuss couplings of goldstino to a so called special minimal (three-form) supergravity [45, 46, 88–90].

Every off-shell $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supergravity-matter system may be reformulated as a super-Weyl invariant theory at the cost of introducing a superconformal compensator, which is a nowhere vanishing covarantly chiral scalar superfield Y in the case of old minimal supergravity. This non-trivial statement has its origin from the prepotential formulation of minimal supergravity [61, 62, 91] (see [49] for a review). The resulting action is invariant under the following super-Weyl transformation of the supervielbein E_M^A and the compensator Y [92, 93]:

$$E_M^a \to e^{\Upsilon + \Upsilon} E_M^a ,$$

$$E_M^\alpha \to e^{2\bar{\Upsilon} - \Upsilon} \left(E_M^\alpha - \frac{i}{2} E_M^a \sigma_a^{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} \bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\dot{\alpha}} \bar{\Upsilon} \right) , \qquad (4.1)$$

$$Y \to e^{-2\Upsilon} Y .$$

At the classical level, the practical virtue of the super-Weyl invariant reformulation of supergravity-matter systems is that it allows one to couple supergravity to matter in a Kähler-invariant manner and considerably simplifies the reduction to component fields by imposing suitable super-Weyl gauge conditions on the components of the chiral compensator Y. The idea goes back to the work by Kugo and Uehara [94], and its systematic use was made in [88] for four-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supergravity-matter systems and also in [95] for three-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supergravity-matter theories. The power of this approach is that it allows one to automatically obtain canonically normalised component actions in the Einstein frame without going through a tedious procedure described, e.g., in [66]. The super-Weyl invariant reformulation of supergravity-matter systems is also useful at the quantum level, see, e.g., [96].

The super-Weyl- and Kähler-invariant superfield action describing the coupling of old minimal $\mathcal{N} = 1$, D = 4 supergravity to chiral matter Φ^I and non-Abelian gauge superfields $V = V^A t_A$ (with t_A being the generators of a gauge symmetry algebra) has the following form [60, 66, 97]

$$S_{\text{bulk}} = -\frac{3}{\kappa^2} \int \mathrm{d}^8 z \operatorname{Ber} E \,\mathrm{e}^{-\frac{1}{3}K(\bar{\Phi},\Phi,V)} Y \bar{Y} \qquad (4.2)$$
$$-\frac{m}{\kappa^2} \Big(\int \mathrm{d}^6 \zeta_L \,\mathcal{E} \, Y^3 \left[W(\Phi) + g_{AB}(\Phi) \,\mathbb{W}^{A\alpha} \mathbb{W}^B_\alpha \right] + \text{c.c.} \Big) \,,$$

where $K(\Phi, \bar{\Phi}, V)$ is a gauge invariant extension of the Kähler potential $K(\Phi, \bar{\Phi})$ of a manifold \mathcal{M}_{chiral} parametrised by the lowest components of the chiral superfields⁸ Φ^{I} , $W(\Phi)$ is a gauge invariant superpotential, which is a holomorphic section of the complex line bundle L_{K} on \mathcal{M}_{chiral} . Finally, $\mathbb{W}_{\alpha} \equiv \mathbb{W}_{\alpha}^{A} t_{A} = -\frac{1}{4} (\bar{\mathcal{D}}^{2} - 4R) e^{-V} \mathcal{D}_{\alpha} e^{V}$ is the gauge field strength superfield and $g_{AB}(\Phi)$ are locally holomorphic functions which transform appropriately under the action of the gauge group and whose transition functions along \mathcal{M}_{chiral} may involve non-trivial dualities of the vector multiplets.

The action is invariant under Kähler transformations and super-Weyl transformations. A general Kähler transformation acts on the Kähler potential, the superpotential and the conformal compensator as follows (for simplicity in what follows we skip the dependence of K on V)

$$K(\Phi, \bar{\Phi}) \to K(\Phi, \bar{\Phi}) + F(\Phi) + F(\Phi) ,$$

$$W(\Phi) \to e^{-F(\Phi)} W(\Phi) ,$$

$$Y \to e^{\frac{1}{3}F(\Phi)} Y,$$
(4.3)

⁸Globally, \mathcal{M}_{chiral} is a Hodge-Kähler manifold. This means that $e^{K(\Phi,\bar{\Phi})}$ can be identified with a well defined metric of a complex line bundle L_K on \mathcal{M}_{chiral} with even first Chern class. Note that, in comparison with the Wess-Bagger book [66] we have absorbed he gravitational constant κ^2 to the definition of the Kähler potential ($K = \kappa^2 K_{WB}$).

where $F(\Phi)$ is a holomorphic function of Φ . The matter chiral superfields Φ^I and the gauge superfields V^A are inert under the super-Weyl transformations.

The conformal compensator Y is a pure gauge field. By gauge fixing the Weyl symmetry it can be reduced e.g. to

$$Y = 1. \tag{4.4}$$

This gauge is invariant under the residual combined Kähler-Weyl transformation with

$$F = 6\Upsilon$$

However, in general the gauge (4.4) does not lead to a component supergravity action that is canonically normalised in the standard Einstein frame. The latter is recovered by performing a further Weyl re-scaling of the vielbein

$$e_m^a(x) \rightarrow e_m^a(x) e^{\frac{1}{6}K(\Phi, \overline{\Phi}, V)|_{\vartheta=0}}$$

accompanied by an appropriate re-scaling of the fermionic fields (see e.g. [66]).

More practically, one can directly obtain the Einstein frame description by fixing the gauge [94, 96]

$$\log Y + \log \bar{Y} = \frac{1}{3} K(\Phi, \bar{\Phi})|_{\text{harm}}$$

$$(4.5)$$

where $|_{\text{harm}}$ selects the components of $K(\Phi, \overline{\Phi})$ that can be written as the sum of a chiral and anti-chiral superfield. This is similar to the Wess-Zumino gauge in the case of the Abelian gauge pre-potential superfield V whose lowest components are removed by an appropriate gauge transformation $V' = V - \Lambda - \overline{\Lambda}$.

4.1 Reducible nilpotent chiral superfield couplings

A general coupling of the nilpotent chiral goldstino superfield S (3.34) to old minimal supergravity and unconstrained matter and gauge multiplets is described by the action [33, 37, 38, 40] which we present in the superfield form⁹

$$S_{\text{bulk}+S} = -\frac{3}{\kappa^2} \int d^8 z \operatorname{Ber} E \, e^{-\frac{1}{3}\hat{K}(\bar{\Phi},\Phi,S,\bar{S})} \, Y\bar{Y}$$

$$-\frac{m}{\kappa^2} \bigg(\int d^6 \zeta_L \, \mathcal{E} \, Y^3 \left[\hat{W}(\Phi,S) + \, \hat{g}_{AB}(\Phi,S) \, \mathbb{W}^{A\alpha} \mathbb{W}^B_{\alpha} + \Lambda S^2 \right] + \text{c.c.} \bigg),$$

$$(4.6)$$

where Λ is the Lagrange multiplier taking care of the constraint $S^2 = 0$, and \hat{K} , \hat{W} and \hat{g} includes S (and \bar{S}). Due to the nilpotency constraint, they have the following most general form [40]

$$\hat{K}(\Phi,\bar{\Phi},S,\bar{S}) = K(\Phi,\bar{\Phi}) + K_s(\Phi,\bar{\Phi})S + \bar{K}_{\bar{s}}(\Phi,\bar{\Phi})\bar{S} + K_{s\bar{s}}(\Phi,\bar{\Phi})S\bar{S}, \qquad (4.7)$$

$$\ddot{W}(\Phi, S) = W(\Phi) + W_s(\Phi)S, \qquad (4.8)$$

$$\hat{g}_{AB}(\Phi, S) = g_{AB}(\Phi) + g^s_{AB}(\Phi)S.$$
 (4.9)

⁹In [33, 37, 38, 40] the component counterpart of this action was constructed using the superconformal tensor calculus reviewed in [98].

It is instructive to see, following [28] in the flat case, how the equations of motion of the superfield S produce modified constraints of the nilpotent superfield X of [24, 25]. The variation of (4.6) with respect to the Lagrange multiplier produces the nilpotency condition $S^2 = 0$ and the variation with respect to S gives the equation of motion

$$-\frac{1}{4}(\bar{\mathcal{D}}\bar{\mathcal{D}} - 4R)\left(e^{-\frac{1}{3}K}\left(K_{s\bar{s}} - \frac{1}{3}K_{s}\bar{K}_{\bar{s}}\right)\bar{S}Y\bar{Y}\right) = \frac{1}{4}(\bar{\mathcal{D}}\bar{\mathcal{D}} - 4R)\left(e^{-\frac{1}{3}K}K_{s}Y\bar{Y}\right)$$
(4.10)
+ $m(W_{s} + g^{s}_{AB}\mathbb{W}^{A}\mathbb{W}^{B} + 2\Lambda S)Y^{3}.$

Multiplying the both sides of (4.10) by S and taking into account its nilpotency we get

$$-\frac{1}{4}S(\bar{\mathcal{D}}\bar{\mathcal{D}} - 4R)\left(e^{-\frac{1}{3}K}\left(K_{s\bar{s}} - \frac{1}{3}K_{s}\bar{K}_{\bar{s}}\right)\bar{S}Y\bar{Y}\right)$$
$$= S\left[\frac{1}{4}(\bar{\mathcal{D}}\bar{\mathcal{D}} - 4R)\left(e^{-\frac{1}{3}K}K_{s}Y\bar{Y}\right) + m(W_{s} + g_{AB}^{s}\mathbb{W}^{A}\mathbb{W}^{B})Y^{3}\right]. \quad (4.11)$$

Comparing eq. (4.11) with the third constraint in (3.28) we see that the former can be regarded as a modification of the Roček superfield constraint in the presence of the matter fields thus providing the relation between the two realizations of the goldstino in which the auxiliary field F_S is on the mass shell.

The component structure of the action (4.6), especially its non-linear dependence on the goldstino field $\chi(x)$ is very complicated [40]. However the contribution into the action of the goldstino sector drastically simplifies in the unitary gauge in which, using the local supersymmetry transformation, one sets the goldstino to zero^{10,11}

$$\chi^{\alpha}(x) = 0 = \bar{\chi}^{\dot{\alpha}}(x). \tag{4.12}$$

In this gauge the nilpotent superfield (3.34) reduces to $S = \theta^2 F_s$. So one can easily integrate the part of the action (4.6) containing S over θ , $\bar{\theta}$, F_s and $\bar{F}_{\bar{s}}$ getting

$$S_{\text{bulk}+S} = -\frac{3}{\kappa^2} \int d^8 z \operatorname{Ber} E \, e^{-\frac{1}{3}K(\bar{\Phi},\Phi,V)} \, Y\bar{Y}$$

$$-\frac{m}{\kappa^2} \left(\int d^6 \zeta_L \, \mathcal{E} \, Y^3 \left[W(\Phi) + g_{AB}(\Phi) \, \mathbb{W}^{A\alpha} \mathbb{W}^B_\alpha \right] + \text{c.c.} \right) - \int d^4 x \, (\det e) \, U_S \,,$$

$$(4.13)$$

where det $e \equiv \det e_m^a(x)$ and U_S is the supersymmetry breaking potential produced by the nilpotent goldstino superfield couplings which (upon gauge fixing the conformal compensator as in (4.5)) has the following form

$$U_{S} = \frac{|\frac{1}{4}(\bar{\mathcal{D}}\bar{\mathcal{D}} - 4R)K_{s} + me^{\frac{K}{2}}(W_{s} + g^{s}_{AB}\mathbb{W}^{A\alpha}\mathbb{W}^{B}_{\alpha})|^{2}}{K_{s\bar{s}} - \frac{1}{3}K_{s}\bar{K}_{\bar{s}}}|_{\theta=\bar{\theta}=0}.$$
(4.14)

¹⁰Note that, in general, $\chi(x)$ is not exactly the physical goldstino, since the latter is a combination $\hat{\chi}$ of χ with other spinorial fields in the theory defined by the form of the gravitino mixing term $\psi_m \gamma^m \hat{\chi}$ in the action (4.2).

¹¹In appendix A we will remind the well known fact that it is consistent to use the unitary gauge and set the goldstone fields to zero directly in the locally symmetric actions. This does not result in the loss of the goldstone field equations, since they are not independent, but are consequences of physical field equations. This can also be seen at the path-integral level, since from (2.15) it follows that the Faddeev-Popov measure associated with (4.12) is a constant determinant and hence does not require the introduction of ghosts.

We see that since $K_{s\bar{s}}$ is an arbitrary real and K_s is an arbitrary complex gauge invariant function of Φ and $\bar{\Phi}$, and W_s and g^s_{AB} are arbitrary complex holomorphic functions of the matter fields (more precisely one should speak of a section of complex line bundle, see paragraph below eq. (4.2)), the potential (4.14) gives rise to a very wide class of supergravity models exhibiting spontaneous supersymmetry breaking.

The action (4.6) can be further generalized by considering some of Φ be constrained superfields themselves [23, 28, 82]. When searching for phenomenologically relevant effective field theory models the use of additional constrained superfields amounts to an effective removal from the consideration of extra heavy mass modes in an infinite mass limit (see e.g. [28, 82–85] for more details and references). A "master" constraint, proposed in [84], which generates all known examples of the constrained superfields, except for (3.38), has the following form

$$\bar{S}SQ = 0, \qquad S^2 = 0, \tag{4.15}$$

where Q is a generic complex superfield which may carry external Lorentz indices.

A characteristic example is a chiral superfield $T = \phi + ib + \theta\lambda + \theta^2 F_T$ satisfying the constraint [28]

$$\frac{1}{2i}S(T-\bar{T}) = 0, \qquad S^2 = 0. \tag{4.16}$$

The superfield T appears in interesting inflationary models [85, 99, 100] as an inflaton supermultiplet in which sinflaton b(x), sinflatino $\lambda(x)$ and the auxiliary field $F_T(x)$ are composites of the goldstino multiplet and the inflaton $\phi(x)$. In the unitary gauge $\chi(x) = 0$ all the components of T vanish except for the inflaton.

4.2 Couplings of the irreducible constrained superfields

The constrained superfield approach to spontaneously broken $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supergravity was introduced by Lindström and Roček in 1979 [25]. They considered the action

$$S = -\int d^8 z \operatorname{Ber} E\left(\frac{3}{\kappa^2} + \bar{X}X\right) - \left\{\frac{m}{\kappa^2} \int d^6 \zeta_L \mathcal{E} + \text{c.c.}\right\},\qquad(4.17)$$

which describes the coupling of the old minimal $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supergravity to the goldstino superfield X constrained according to (3.28). They also used the equivalent form for the action, which is obtained by replacing $\bar{X}X$ with $f^2\mathcal{V}$, with \mathcal{V} constrained according to (3.29). In the unitary gauge, the cosmological constant was shown to be equal to

$$\Lambda = f^2 - 3\frac{m^2}{\kappa^2} \,, \tag{4.18}$$

which coincides with the value obtained by Deser and Zumino [9] in their study of the coupling of the pure $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supergravity without auxiliary fields to the Volkov-Akulov action. As was already mentioned, the positive contribution f^2 to the cosmological constant (4.18), which comes from the goldstino superfield X, is universal for all superfield models of spontaneously broken $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supergravity including those advocated in [32, 33, 35, 44].

The super-Weyl invariant reformulation of (4.17) is described by the action

$$S = -\int d^8 z \operatorname{Ber} E \bar{Y} Y \left(\frac{3}{\kappa^2} + \bar{X} X \right) - \left\{ \frac{m}{\kappa^2} \int d^6 \zeta_L \mathcal{E} Y^3 + \text{c.c.} \right\}, \qquad (4.19)$$

where X is chosen to be inert under the super-Weyl transformation. The goldstino superfield X now obeys the super-Weyl invariant constraints

$$X^{2} = 0, \qquad -\frac{1}{4}X(\bar{\mathcal{D}}^{2} - 4R)(\bar{X}\bar{Y}Y) = fY^{3}X. \qquad (4.20)$$

Lindström and Roček [25] did not discuss matter couplings for the goldstino superfield. To introduce such couplings, it suffices to deform the constraints (4.20) as follows:

$$X^{2} = 0, \qquad -\frac{1}{4}X(\bar{\mathcal{D}}^{2} - 4R)(\bar{X}\mathcal{F}\bar{Y}Y) = \mathcal{W}Y^{3}X, \qquad \bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\dot{\alpha}}\mathcal{W} = 0.$$
(4.21)

Here \mathcal{F} and \mathcal{W} are *composite* real and covariantly chiral scalars, respectively, which are constructed from matter superfields. They both are chosen to be super-Weyl inert. The goldstino-dependent part of the action (4.19) should also be deformed,

$$\int d^8 z \operatorname{Ber} E \, \bar{Y} Y \bar{X} X \implies \int d^8 z \operatorname{Ber} E \, \bar{Y} Y \mathcal{F} \bar{X} X.$$
(4.22)

Note that the constraint (4.11) is of the type (4.21) with specially chosen composites \mathcal{F} and \mathcal{W} . This means that the two formulations in terms of the different goldstino superfields S and X are equivalent.

To obtain a super-Weyl invariant formulation for the complex linear goldstino superfield coupled to supergravity, the first and third constraints in (3.33) have to be deformed as follows [35]

$$-\frac{1}{4}(\bar{\mathcal{D}}^2 - 4R)\Sigma = fY^2, \qquad -\frac{1}{4}\Sigma(\bar{\mathcal{D}}^2 - 4R)\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}\left(\frac{\Sigma}{\bar{Y}}\right) = fY^2\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}\left(\frac{\Sigma}{\bar{Y}}\right), \qquad (4.23)$$

while keeping the condition $\Sigma^2 = 0$ intact. The super-Weyl transformation of Σ is chosen¹² to be

$$\Sigma \rightarrow e^{-2\bar{\Upsilon}}\Sigma.$$
 (4.24)

The action for supergravity coupled to this goldstino superfield is obtained from (4.19) by replacing $\bar{Y}Y\bar{X}X \rightarrow \bar{\Sigma}\Sigma$,

$$S = -\int d^8 z \operatorname{Ber} E \left\{ \frac{3}{\kappa^2} \bar{Y} Y + \bar{\Sigma} \Sigma \right\} - \left\{ \frac{m}{\kappa^2} \int d^6 \zeta_L \mathcal{E} Y^3 + \text{c.c.} \right\} .$$
(4.25)

This action, whose form is an obvious corollary of the analysis carried out in [29], was explicitly given in [35]. It describes the minimal coupling of the complex linear goldstino superfield to supergravity (compare with the action (3.26b) describing the dynamics of the complex linear goldstino superfield in Minkowski superspace).

The complex linear goldstino superfield can also be coupled to supersymmetric matter [29]. The corresponding constraints are obtained by deforming (4.23) to the form

$$-\frac{1}{4}(\bar{\mathcal{D}}^2 - 4R)\Sigma = WY^2, \qquad (4.26a)$$

$$\Sigma^{2} = 0, \qquad -\frac{1}{4}\Sigma(\bar{\mathcal{D}}^{2} - 4R)\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}\left(\frac{\Sigma}{\bar{Y}}\right) = WY^{2}\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}\left(\frac{\Sigma}{\bar{Y}}\right). \qquad (4.26b)$$

¹²Applying a field redefinition $\Sigma \to Y^n \Sigma$ leads to a different super-Weyl transformation law of Σ and modifies the explicit form of constraints (4.23).

where \mathcal{W} is a *composite* covariantly chiral scalar chosen to be inert under the super-Weyl transformations.¹³ As the goldstino-dependent part of the supergravity-matter action, we may choose

$$S_{\Sigma} = \int d^8 z \operatorname{Ber} E \left\{ -\bar{\Sigma} \mathcal{F}^{-1} \Sigma + Y \Sigma \,\mathcal{C} + \bar{Y} \bar{\Sigma} \,\bar{\mathcal{C}} \right\}, \qquad (4.27)$$

where \mathcal{F} and \mathcal{C} are real and complex composite scalars, respectively, which are chosen to be inert under the super-Weyl transformations.

If (4.26a) is the only constraint imposed on (non-nilpotent) Σ , the theory with action (4.27) possesses a dual formulation given by

$$S_{\mathcal{S}} = \int \mathrm{d}^8 z \operatorname{Ber} E \, \bar{Y} Y (\bar{\mathcal{S}} + \bar{\mathcal{C}}) \mathcal{F} (\mathcal{S} + \mathcal{C}) - \left\{ \int \mathrm{d}^6 \zeta_L \, \mathcal{E} \, Y^3 \mathcal{SW} + \mathrm{c.c.} \right\} \,. \tag{4.28}$$

Here the dynamical variable S is a covariantly chiral scalar, $\overline{\mathcal{D}}_{\dot{\alpha}}S = 0$, chosen to be inert under the super-Weyl transformations. This action with S constrained to be nilpotent, $S^2 = 0$, is analogous to the part of (4.6) containing the goldstino superfield S subject to the constraint $S^2 = 0$. The duality between (4.27) and (4.28) indicates that, upon imposing the constraints (4.26b), the goldstino-matter coupling described by (4.27) is analogous to the one generated by the chiral action (4.6).

It is of interest to look at the properties of the spinor goldstino superfield $\bar{\Xi}_{\dot{\alpha}}$ defined by (3.32) in the case of the deformed constraints (4.26). To simplify explicit expressions, we will temporarily choose the super-Weyl gauge Y = 1. Making use of the condition $\Sigma^2 = 0$ gives

$$\Sigma = \frac{1}{\mathcal{W}} \bar{\Xi}_{\dot{\alpha}} \bar{\Xi}^{\dot{\alpha}} \,. \tag{4.29}$$

From (4.26a) we deduce

$$\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\dot{\alpha}}\bar{\Xi}_{\dot{\beta}} = \varepsilon_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}} \left\{ \mathcal{W} - \frac{R}{\mathcal{W}}\bar{\Xi}^2 \right\},\tag{4.30}$$

which is a generalisation of (3.31a). Making use of (4.26b) one may work out a generalisation of (3.31b). In the flat superspace limit, it is given by eq. (6.3.125) in [101].

There exist more general deformations of the constraints on Σ than those given by (4.26). We will not pursue this topic in the present paper.

Finally, in the case of the real scalar superfield \mathcal{V} of the Weyl weight 2, i.e.

$$\mathcal{V} \rightarrow e^{2(\Upsilon + \overline{\Upsilon})} \mathcal{V}$$

which, as we have seen, is related to the Volkov-Akulov Lagrangian in the most direct way, the coupling of the goldstino to supergravity with matter is described by the action

$$S_{\rm VA} = -f^2 \int d^8 z \operatorname{Ber} E \mathcal{F} \bar{Y}^2 Y^2 \mathcal{V}, \qquad (4.31)$$

¹³As discussed in [101], the most general expression for the composite \mathcal{W} is as follows: $\mathcal{W} = f + G_1(\Phi) + G_2(\Phi) \operatorname{tr}(\mathbb{W}^{\alpha} \mathbb{W}_{\alpha})$, where the matter chiral superfields Φ and \mathbb{W}_{α} were introduced at the beginning of this section.

where \mathcal{V} satisfies the constraints

$$\mathcal{V}^2 = 0, \qquad (4.32)$$

$$\mathcal{V}\mathcal{D}_A\mathcal{D}_B\mathcal{V} = 0, \qquad \mathcal{V}\mathcal{D}_A\mathcal{D}_B\mathcal{D}_C\mathcal{V} = 0, \qquad (4.33)$$

$$\frac{1}{16} \mathcal{V} \mathcal{D}^{\alpha} \bar{\mathcal{D}}^2 \mathcal{D}_{\alpha} \mathcal{V} = \mathcal{V} \,. \tag{4.34}$$

As we discussed in section 3.3, the constraints (4.33) generalizing eqs. (3.23) single out the nilpotent \mathcal{V} of the form (3.24) which is directly related to the goldstino brane construction (see (3.51)). The constraints (4.33) are super-Weyl invariant due to $\mathcal{V}^2 = 0$ and imply that also (4.34) is super-Weyl invariant. So the coupling of this goldstino superfield to matter does not require the modification of its constraints by including matter superfields, in contrast to the other cases of the irreducible goldstino superfields considered above.¹⁴

4.3 Goldstino brane couplings

We will now show in detail that in the geometric framework of the non-linear realizations, one gets a similar general class of models of spontaneously broken matter-coupled supergravity as the ones discussed in the previous subsections, as well as new couplings which have not been discussed in the literature so far.

A general coupling of the goldstino brane to supergravity with matter proposed in [44] is described by the following action

$$S_{\text{bulk+brane}} = S_{\text{bulk}} + S_{\text{brane}}$$

$$\equiv S_{\text{bulk}} - f^2 \int d^4 \xi \, \det \left[\mathbb{E}(z(\xi)) \right] \hat{\mathcal{F}}_{\Phi,\bar{\Phi},V,\varphi}(\xi) , \qquad (4.35)$$

where S_{bulk} is as in (4.2), the goldstino appears only in S_{brane} (as in eqs. (2.13)–(2.14)) and

$$\hat{\mathcal{F}}_{\Phi,\bar{\Phi},V,\varphi}(\xi) \equiv \hat{\mathcal{F}}[\Phi(z(\xi)),\bar{\Phi}(z(\xi)),V(z(\xi)),\varphi(\xi)]$$
(4.36)

is a real supersymmetric, gauge and worldvolume diffeomorphism invariant function of the pull-backs of bulk superfields and their derivatives, as well as of purely brane worldvolume fields $\varphi(\xi)$ such as scalar, spinor or Born-Infeld vector fields, which may be regarded as those of a dimensionally reduced (anti)-D-brane of type II string theory as we will discuss in mored detail in sections 6 and 7.

The goldstino brane term in (4.35) can be extended to the integral over the curved superspace as in (3.46), (3.50), (3.51) or (4.31), but this is not necessary, and actually redundant, for the analysis that follows.

The invariance of (4.2) under the transformations (4.3)–(4.1) ensures that S_{bulk} is globally well defined along the target space $\mathcal{M}_{\text{chiral}}$ of the chiral fields. This property should also be satisfied by the brane action S_{brane} in (4.35). Namely, since under the super-Weyl transformations (4.1) the brane density det $[\mathbb{E}(z(\xi))]$ has weight 4, the function (4.36) should contain the compensating factor $Y^2 \bar{Y}^2$ whose Kähler variation (4.3)

¹⁴Note that for the nilpotent superfield which does not obey (4.33) the Weyl and Kähler invariant counterpart of the constraint (4.34) is $\frac{1}{16}\mathcal{VD}^{\alpha}(\bar{\mathcal{D}}^2 - 4R)\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}(\mathcal{F}\bar{Y}Y\mathcal{V}) = \mathcal{F}\bar{Y}Y\mathcal{V}.$

should be in turn compensated by the variation of $e^{-\frac{2}{3}K}$. We thus re-write (4.36) in the following form

$$\hat{\mathcal{F}}_{\Phi,\bar{\Phi},V,\varphi}(\xi) = Y^2 \bar{Y}^2 \, e^{-\frac{2}{3}K(\Phi,\bar{\Phi},V)} \, \mathcal{F}[\Phi(z(\xi)),\bar{\Phi}(z(\xi)),V(z(\xi)),\varphi(\xi)] \,, \tag{4.37}$$

where \mathcal{F} is a gauge-invariant function of bulk and worldvolume fields.

We are now in a position to compare the coupling of the goldstino brane to supergravity and matter with that of the chiral nilpotent superfield of section 4.1. A straightforward way to do this is to impose the static gauge $x^m = \xi^i \delta_i^m$, the unitary gauge (4.12) and gauge fix the super-Weyl invariance by choosing Y as in (4.5). Then the goldstino brane term in the action (4.35) reduces to

$$S_{\text{brane}} = -f^2 \int d^4 x \, (\det e) \mathcal{F}[\Phi, \bar{\Phi}, V, \varphi(x)]|_{\theta = \bar{\theta} = 0} \,. \tag{4.38}$$

Comparing (4.38) with (4.13) and (4.14) we see that the two actions produce the same supersymmetry breaking potentials when

$$f^{2}\mathcal{F}[\Phi,\bar{\Phi},V,\varphi(x)]|_{\theta=\bar{\theta}=0} = \frac{|\frac{1}{4}(\bar{\mathcal{D}}\bar{\mathcal{D}}-4R)K_{s}+m\,e^{\frac{K}{2}}\,(W_{s}+g^{s}_{AB}\mathbb{W}^{A\alpha}\mathbb{W}^{B}_{\alpha})|^{2}}{K_{s\bar{s}}-\frac{1}{3}K_{s}\bar{K}_{\bar{s}}}|_{\theta=\bar{\theta}=0}.$$
(4.39)

If the brane worldvolume fields $\varphi(x)$ are switched off, we see from eq. (4.39) that the two descriptions of the goldstino couplings easily match for properly chosen functions of the bulk fields.

As we have already mentioned, in addition to the constrained goldstino superfield there may be other constrained superfields involved into the construction of effective models. In the goldstino brane formulation there are different ways of including into consideration the other constrained superfields, like (4.15) and (4.16). For instance, one can use constraints similar to (4.15) and (4.16) but with the nilpotent goldstino superfield S replaced by Xconstructed as in (3.30) with \mathcal{V} defined in (3.51).

Or one can include into the function \mathcal{F} goldstino brane terms which give large masses to certain components of matter superfields and take an infinite mass decoupling limit. For instance, in the case of the inflaton superfield T the corresponding terms in \mathcal{F} which lead to the constraint (4.16) have the following form

$$\mathcal{F}_T(T,\bar{T}) = c_1(T-\bar{T})^2 + c_2(\mathcal{D}T)^2 + \bar{c}_2(\bar{\mathcal{D}}\bar{T})^2 + c_3|\mathcal{D}\mathcal{D}T|^2, \qquad c_1, |c_2|, c_3 \to \infty.$$
(4.40)

One can also include the contribution to the effective theory of brane worldvolume fields. We we will consider examples of these in the forthcoming sections. Their effect is similar to that of constrained matter superfields in accordance with a recent consideration of [58, 59]. Before passing to the discussion of these couplings, let us indicate one more feature of the goldstino brane.

5 Brane contribution to the gravitino mass and special minimal supergravity

The brane may also naturally produce supersymmetry breaking gravitino mass terms in a form similar to the one appeared in [4]

$$\frac{\Delta m}{4\mathrm{i}\kappa^2} \int \mathrm{d}^4\xi \,\varepsilon^{ijkl} \left(\mathbb{E}_i \sigma_{ab} \mathbb{E}_j \right) \mathbb{E}_k^a \,\mathbb{E}_l^b + \mathrm{c.c.}$$
(5.1)

which in the unitary gauge (4.12) and the Einstein frame reduces to

$$-\frac{\Delta m}{2\kappa^2} \int d^4 x (\det e) \psi_a \sigma^{ab} \psi_b + \text{c.c.} \qquad (\text{at } \chi = \bar{\chi} = 0, \, \xi^m = x^m). \tag{5.2}$$

With the use of the pullbacks of the compensator superfields and a chiral superpotential the action (5.1) can be made super-Weyl and Kähler invariant

$$\frac{\Delta m}{4\mathrm{i}\kappa^2} \int \mathrm{d}^4\xi \,\varepsilon^{ijkl} \left(\hat{\mathbb{E}}_i \sigma_{ab} \,\hat{\mathbb{E}}_j\right) \mathbb{E}_k^a \,\mathbb{E}_l^b \,\bar{Y}^3(z(\xi)) \,\bar{\mathcal{W}}(\Phi(z(\xi)) + \mathrm{c.c.}$$
(5.3)

where

$$\hat{\mathbb{E}}_{i}^{\alpha} = \mathbb{E}_{i}^{\alpha} - \frac{\mathrm{i}}{6} \mathbb{E}_{i}^{a} \sigma_{a}^{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} \, \bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\dot{\alpha}} \log\left(\bar{Y}^{3} \bar{\mathcal{W}}\right). \tag{5.4}$$

We stress that in general \mathcal{W} does not need to coincide with the superpotential defining the F-term in the supersymmetric matter sector of the Lagrangian. It should just transform in the same way under Kähler transformations or, in other words, it must be a section of the same line bundle.

The presence of terms like (5.1) in the effective action may be of phenomenological relevance. As far as we know, manifestly supersymmetric terms like this have not been constructed so far by using constrained superfields.¹⁵ A possibility of getting such terms in the constrained superfield approach is as follows.

We first notice that the integrand of (5.2) is the worldvolume pullback of a part of the four-superform

$$\Omega_4 = \frac{i}{4} E^{\alpha} \wedge (\sigma_{ba})_{\alpha\beta} E^{\beta} \wedge E^a \wedge E^b + \frac{1}{32} R(z) E^a \wedge E^b \wedge E^c \wedge E^d \varepsilon_{dcba}, \qquad (5.5)$$

which is closed when one takes into account the N = 1, D = 4 supergravity constraints [46, 88–90, 102])

$$\mathrm{d}\Omega_4 = 0\,. \tag{5.6}$$

This gives rise to a so called 3-form or special minimal off-shell formulation of N = 1, D = 4 supergravity [45, 46, 88–90] tracing roots back to [103] and [61, 64]. In this formulation a real part of (5.5) is assumed to be an exact form

$$\Omega_4 + \bar{\Omega}_4 = \mathrm{d}C_3.$$

¹⁵We thank F. Farakos for discussions of this issue.

where C_3 is a real three-superform whose variation under the supersymmetry transformations is a total derivative. Hence

$$\frac{1}{32} \left[R(z) + \bar{R}(z) \right] E^a \wedge E^b \wedge E^c \wedge E^d \varepsilon_{dcba} = \mathrm{d}C_3 - \frac{\mathrm{i}}{4} \left(E^\alpha \wedge (\sigma_{ba})_{\alpha\beta} E^\beta \wedge E^a \wedge E^b - \mathrm{c.c.} \right),$$
(5.7)

From eq. (5.7) it follows that in the special minimal supergravity the real part of the scalar curvature superfield R(z) takes the form

$$R(z) + \bar{R}(z) = -\frac{2}{9} \varepsilon^{abcd} E^{M}_{a} E^{N}_{b} E^{P}_{c} E^{Q}_{d} \partial_{[M} C_{NPQ)}(z), \qquad (5.8)$$

where $E_a^M(z)$ are components of the vielbein inverse of $E_M^A(z)$. In particular, the real part of the auxiliary field R(x) which is the leading component of (5.8) is expressed in terms of the stress tensor of $C_3(x)$ and the gravitino mass terms

$$R(x) + \bar{R}(x) = -\frac{2}{9e} \varepsilon^{klmn} \partial_k C_{lmn}(x) + \frac{2}{3} (\psi_a \sigma^{ab} \psi_b + \bar{\psi}_a \tilde{\sigma}^{ab} \bar{\psi}_b)$$
(5.9)

 $(e = \det e^a_\mu(x))$. So in the special three-form supergravity formulation we can replace (5.1) with

$$-\frac{3\Delta m}{4\kappa^2} \int d^4\xi \left[R(z(\xi)) + \bar{R}(z(\xi)) \right] \det \mathbb{E}.$$
 (5.10)

Note that in flat superspace the term (5.10) vanishes, and so does (5.1) which becomes an integral of a total derivative [104], hence the gravitino mass term (5.1) does not have rigid supersymmetry counterparts.

We can now lift (5.10) to the complete superspace integral writing down

$$-\frac{3\Delta m}{4\kappa^2} \int d^8 z \operatorname{Ber} E(z) \big[R(z) + \bar{R}(z) \big] \mathcal{V}(z), \qquad (5.11)$$

where $\mathcal{V}(z)$ was defined in (3.51). In view of the relations between different constrained superfields discussed in section 3, $\mathcal{V}(z)$ can be replaced e.g. with its solution in terms of the chiral superfields $X\bar{X}$ or the complex linear superfields $\Sigma\bar{\Sigma}$, or with the bilinear of the nilpotent superfields $S\bar{S}$ (3.34).

The super-Weyl invariant form of (5.11) is

$$\frac{3\Delta m}{16\kappa^2} \int \mathrm{d}^8 z \operatorname{Ber} E(z) P^2 \Big[Y^{-2} \Big(\bar{\mathcal{D}}\bar{\mathcal{D}} - 4R(z) \Big) \bar{Y} + \bar{Y}^{-2} \Big(\mathcal{D}\mathcal{D} - 4\bar{R}(z) \Big) Y \Big] \mathcal{V}(z), \quad (5.12)$$

where Y are the compensators of special minimal supergravity [88] constructed as the chiral projection of a real pre-potential P

$$Y^{3} = (\bar{\mathcal{D}}\bar{\mathcal{D}} - 4R)P, \qquad \bar{Y}^{3} = (\mathcal{D}\mathcal{D} - 4\bar{R})P, \qquad P = \bar{P}.$$
 (5.13)

The scaling properties of Y under the Weyl transformations (4.1) are determined by the following transformations of P [88]

$$P \mapsto P e^{-2(\Upsilon + \Upsilon)} \tag{5.14}$$

and of the chiral projector

$$(\bar{\mathcal{D}}\bar{\mathcal{D}} - 4R)\dots \rightarrow e^{-4\Upsilon}(\bar{\mathcal{D}}\bar{\mathcal{D}} - 4R)e^{2\Upsilon}\dots$$
 (5.15)

The power of the pre-potential P in (5.12) is fixed by the super-Weyl weight of the Volkov-Akulov brane superfield \mathcal{V} (3.50),

$$\mathcal{V} \rightarrow \mathcal{V}e^{2(\Upsilon+\Upsilon)}$$
 (5.16)

By appropriately choosing the power of P one can consider the action (5.12) with the real superfield \mathcal{V} of an arbitrary Weyl weight.

We have thus constructed the Weyl invariant spontaneous supersymmetry breaking contribution to the gravitino mass with the use of a constrained superfield. This construction requires to couple the goldstino superfield to the special minimal supergravity. Further generalization of (5.12) which would include Kähler-invariant matter coupling as in (5.3) encounters an obstacle related to the fact that in the minimal special supergravity it is not directly possible to assume that the compensator Y transforms under the Kähler transformations, as in (4.3), since the expression of Y in terms of P (5.13) does not allow this. So in this version of supergravity matter coupling is more restrictive than in the old minimal one. Further discussion of this issue is beyond the scope of this paper.

To summarize, the goldstino brane can provide the contribution to the gravitino mass in matter-coupled old minimal supergravity, while the constrained superfield counterpart of this term requires coupling to the special minimal supergravity whose interactions with matter superfields are quite restricted. This example may imply that the goldstino brane and the constrained superfield descriptions are actually not completely equivalent.

6 Adding matter fields on the brane worldvolume

In the context of four-dimensional model building one can consider rather general couplings of brane worldvolume fields to goldstino and bulk fields.

The worldvolume fields to which the goldstino may be coupled in the supersymmetry invariant way [1-3] transform non-linearly under spontaneously broken supersymmetries and hence do not form supermultiplets. They can however be promoted to constrained superfields following the general procedure of [22, 23] recently applied to an anti-D3-brane case in [58, 59].

The form of the supersymmetry variations of the worldvolume matter fields can be deduced as follows. Consider, for simplicity, a single worldvolume scalar field $\varphi(\xi)$ which is *a priori* inert under the bulk supersymmetry transformations. The only requirement is that it couples to the goldstino in a worldvolume diffeomorphism invariant way, e.g.

$$S_{\phi} = -\frac{1}{2} \int d^4 \xi \sqrt{-g} \left(g^{ij} \partial_i \varphi \partial_j \varphi + V(\varphi) \right)$$
(6.1)

where $g_{ij} = \eta_{ab} \mathbb{E}_i^a \mathbb{E}_j^b$ is the induced worldvolume metric and \mathbb{E}_i^a was defined in (2.14). Note that, by construction, this action is also manifestly invariant under the bulk superdiffeomorphisms.

If we impose the static gauge (2.3), the symmetry which preserves this gauge is a combination of the worldvolume diffeomorphism and the target-space superdiffeomorphisms $\delta x^m = \delta_i^m \delta \xi^i$. Thus, in the static gauge the worldvolume fields undergo the following target-space supersymmetry transformations

$$\delta_{\epsilon}\varphi(x) = -\delta_{\epsilon}x^{m}\partial_{m}\varphi(x), \qquad (6.2)$$

where in the Wess-Zumino gauge (see e.g. [44])

$$\delta_{\epsilon} x^{m} = \mathrm{i} f^{-1} \left(\chi \sigma^{n} \bar{\epsilon} - \epsilon \sigma^{n} \bar{\chi} \right) \left(\delta_{n}^{m} - \mathrm{i} f^{-1} \chi \sigma^{m} \bar{\psi}_{n} + \mathrm{i} f^{-1} \psi_{n} \sigma^{m} \bar{\chi} \right) + \mathcal{O}(\chi^{3}) .$$
(6.3)

A class of effective four-dimensional models with matter fields $\varphi(\xi)$ can be narrowed if the goldstino brane originates from an (anti) D-branes of string theory propagating in a compactified ten-dimensional space-time. The form of the D-brane action (which is of a Dirac-Born-Infeld type) and hence the structure of the terms involving the worldvolume fields are fixed by the worldvolume and target-space symmetries [105–108]. The relation between the Volkov-Akulov model and superbrane effective actions has been comprehensively discussed in the literature, see e.g. [20, 21, 53, 57–59] to which we address the reader for further details and references. We only note that, in the case of an anti-D3-brane ($\overline{D3}$ -brane), these fields may include six scalar fields $y^p(\xi)$ ($p = 1, \ldots, 6$) associated with brane embedding coordinates of the compactified internal space, a U(1) Born-Infeld gauge field $A_i(\xi)$ and extra 3 fermionic (D = 4 spinor) fields $\psi^I(\xi)$ (I=1,2,3). When in a given D = 10 background the kappa-symmetry of the D3-brane action is appropriately fixed and the static gauge (2.3) is imposed, the fields $y^p(x), A_m(x)$ and $\psi^I(x)$ transform under spontaneously broken $\mathcal{N} = 1, D = 4$ supersymmetry similar to (6.2) (see e.g. [58, 59, 109])

$$\delta_{\epsilon} y^{p} = -\delta_{\epsilon} x^{m} \partial_{m} y^{p} , \quad \delta_{\epsilon} A_{m} = -\delta_{\epsilon} x^{n} F_{nm} - \partial_{m} (\delta_{\epsilon} x^{n} A_{n}) , \quad \delta_{\epsilon} \psi^{I} = -\delta_{\epsilon} x^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} \psi^{I} . \tag{6.4}$$

The presence of fluxes and orientifold planes, e.g. when the $\overline{\text{D3}}$ -brane sits in a strongly warped region of a type IIB flux compactification discussed in the next section, can remove part of the $\overline{\text{D3}}$ -brane fields from the low-energy spectrum (see e.g. [53, 59, 110] and references therein for a detailed discussion of this case) and significantly affect the contribution of the $\overline{\text{D3}}$ -brane to the effective theory.

Let us consider a general situation (not necessarily associated with anti-D-branes in string compactifications) in which worldvolume bosons $y^p(\xi)$, fermions ψ^I and a U(1) gauge field $A_i(\xi)$ are part of the spectrum of the low-energy effective theory. Then, to the second order in derivatives, the function $\hat{\mathcal{F}}$ in the goldstino brane term of the action (4.35) may have the following generic form

where ∇ is a covariant derivative constructed with an induced spin connection, $F_{ij} = \partial_i A_j - \partial_j A_i$, $F^{*ij} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{-g}} \varepsilon^{ijkl} F_{kl}$ and all the superfunctions are gauge invariant. For this choice of $\hat{\mathcal{F}}$, in the static and unitary gauge the goldstino brane action (4.38) takes the form

$$S_{\text{brane}} = -f^2 \int d^4 x \, \det e \left[U(\Phi, \bar{\Phi}, V, y, \psi) + \frac{1}{4} g(\Phi, \bar{\Phi}, V, y, \psi) F_{mn} F^{mn} \right. \\ \left. + C[\Phi, \bar{\Phi}, V, y, \psi] F_{mn} F^{*\,mn} + \frac{1}{2} G_{pq}(\Phi, \bar{\Phi}, V, y, \psi) g^{mn} \partial_m y^p \partial_n y^q \right. \\ \left. + \frac{1}{2} G_{IJ}(\Phi, \bar{\Phi}, V, y, \psi) \psi^I \nabla \psi^J \right]|_{\chi = \bar{\chi} = 0}.$$

$$(6.6)$$

This illustrates the generality of the goldstino brane approach to the construction of locally-supersymmetric actions which describe couplings of a supersymmetry breaking sector to a supersymmetric bulk theory. To reduce the range of possible models one should therefore resort to the 4D effective field theory description of concrete phenomenologically relevant scenarios, such as e.g. flux compactifications with D-branes and anti-D-branes in string theory. This has been a subject of a significant interest over the years.

7 4D effective action for a $\overline{D3}$ -brane in flux compactifications of type IIB string theory

Let us briefly review a particular form of (6.6) which corresponds to well known examples of flux compactifications with branes in string theory, namely the KKL(MM)T models [111, 112] whose key ingredients are $\overline{D3}$ -branes.

In the framework of the simplest KKL(MM)T setups [111, 112], it is assumed that there is one $\overline{\text{D3}}$ -brane confined at the bottom of a strongly warped region [113], for instance the one similar to the Klebanov-Strassler solution [114]. As a further simplification, it is often assumed that there is just one bulk (universal) Kähler modulus plus, possibly, the moduli describing the position of (supersymmetric) mobile D3-branes. The supersymmetrization of this setting has been discussed with the use of constrained superfields (see e.g. [58, 59] and references therein). Here we would like to revisit this problem and show how the goldstino brane allows for a natural solution of it in the framework of section 6. In passing, by using the warped effective supergravity of [115, 116], we will rederive and extend the formulas obtained in [111, 112] for describing the contribution of the $\overline{\text{D3}}$ -brane to the potential.

7.1 Type IIB compactification background

In order to identify the contribution of the $\overline{\text{D3}}$ -brane to the 4D effective theory in the KKL(MM)T scenarious [111, 112], we first briefly recall the structure of the warped compactifications in type IIB string theory described in [113] (partially) following the notation of [115, 116]. The ten-dimensional Einstein-frame metric of a tree-level *vacuum* is

$$\mathrm{d}\hat{s}_{10}^2 = \ell_{\mathrm{s}}^2 M_P^2 e^{2A(y)} |Y|^2 \mathrm{d}s_4^2(x) + \ell_{\mathrm{s}}^2 e^{-2A(y)} \mathrm{d}s_{X_6}^2(y) \tag{7.1}$$

where l_s is a string length scale, $M_P = \frac{1}{\kappa}$ is the effective 4D Plank mass, $ds_4^2 = g_{(4)mn}(x)dx^m dx^m$ is a 4D metric around which the 4D effective field theory is constructed,

 $e^{2A(y)}$ is the warping factor which non-trivially depends on the coordinates y^p of an internal space endowed with a Kähler metric $ds_{X_6}^2 = g_{pq}(y)dy^pdy^q$ $(p, q, \ldots = 1, \ldots, 6)$. In (7.1) we have factorised the string-length dependence $\ell_s^2 = (2\pi)^2 \alpha'$ in order to work in natural string units along the internal space. Finally Y is associated with the lowest component of the auxiliary compensator superfield introduced in section 4 to single out the D = 4 Einstein frame by fixing a specific value of Y determined by the Kähler potential as in (4.5).

The general form of the warping is

$$e^{-4A} = a + e^{-4A_0(y)}$$
 with $e^{-4A_0(y)} = \frac{1}{\ell_s^4} \int_{X_6} G(y; y') Q_6(y')$, (7.2)

where a is an arbitrary parameter, the so called *universal modulus* which in the absence of $e^{-4A_0(y)}$ is associated with the overall volume of the internal space X_6 , G(y; y') is a Green's function associated with the internal space metric and $Q_6(y)$ is the six-form D3charge density which encodes the contribution of N_{D3} mobile D3-branes, H_3 and F_3 fluxes, O3-planes and, possibly, other localised sources:

$$Q_6 = F_3 \wedge H_3 + \ell_s^4 \sum_{I \in D3's} \delta_I^6 - \frac{1}{4} \ell_s^4 \sum_{O \in O3's} \delta_O^6 + \dots$$
(7.3)

In this background there is also a self-dual RR five-form flux

$$F_5 = \ell_{\rm s}^4 M_P^4 |Y|^4 \text{dvol}_4 \wedge \text{d}e^{4A} + \ell_{\rm s}^4 *_6 \text{d}e^{-4A}, \qquad (7.4)$$

For simplicity, we assume that the axion-dilaton is constant, i.e.

$$\tau \equiv C_0 + ie^{-\phi} = c_0 + \frac{i}{g_s}.$$
 (7.5)

Furthermore, we assume that its value as well as the complex structure moduli are fixed dynamically by the fluxes.

The bosonic fields of the effective four-dimensional theory describing excitations around the vacuum under consideration include, in addition to the four-dimensional metric $g_{(4)mn}$, a set of complex fields $\rho^a(x)$ which parametrize the X_6 Kähler structure and C_4 moduli, and complex fields $z_I^i(x)$ that describe the position of the mobile D3-branes (in some local complex coordinate z^i in the internal space X_6 and $I = 1, \ldots, N_{D3}$). The fields ρ^a and z_I^i are the lowest components of chiral superfields, which we denote with the same symbols. There may be additional fields contributing to the effective four-dimensional theory but for simplicity we neglect them.

The four-dimensional effective field theory is specified by a superpotential and a Kähler potential for these fields. In [115] it is shown that the Kähler potential $K(\rho, \bar{\rho}, z, \bar{z})$ is implicitly defined by the following simple formula

$$K = -3\log a \,, \tag{7.6}$$

where the universal modulus a is considered as a function of the chiral moduli ρ and z_I^i . To describe the effective theory in the D = 4 Einstein frame in what follows we set

$$Y = e^{\frac{K}{6}},\tag{7.7}$$

which is just the bosonic part of the full superfield gauge-fixing condition (4.5). Notice that the specific choice (7.6) explicitly breaks the Kähler invariance of the effective theory.

7.2 D3-brane contribution: bosonic fields

Let us now add an anti-D3-brane to the above configuration. As in [111, 112] we consider the $\overline{\text{D3}}$ -brane as a probe, i.e. we work in the approximation in which its backreation on the background is neglected. This means, in particular, that we neglect the (negative) contribution of the $\overline{\text{D3}}$ -brane to the charge density (7.3), keeping in it only supersymmetry preserving sources. In fact, since X_6 is compact, this contribution would modify the tadpole condition $\int_{X_6} Q_6 = 0$, which gives the global consistency of the configuration. Hence, the ten-dimensional backreaction of the $\overline{\text{D3}}$ -brane should be taken into account along the lines of [117, 118], at least to accommodate for such an effect, but we will not try to do it here.¹⁶

The potential felt by the $\overline{D3}$ -brane in the background under consideration can be extracted from the standard bosonic D3-brane effective action in the D = 10 Einstein frame

$$S_{\overline{\mathrm{D3}}} = -\frac{2\pi}{\ell_{\mathrm{s}}^4} \int \mathrm{d}^4 \xi \sqrt{-\det\left[\hat{g}_{ij} + e^{-\frac{\phi}{2}} \mathcal{F}_{ij}\right]} - \frac{2\pi}{\ell_{\mathrm{s}}^4} \int C \wedge e^{\mathcal{F}}$$
(7.8)

where $\hat{g}_{ij} = \partial_i x^m \partial_j x^n g_{mn}(x, y) + \partial_i y^p \partial_j y^q g_{pq}(y)$ is the induced metric, $\mathcal{F}_{ij} \equiv \frac{\ell_s^2}{2\pi} F_{ij} - B_{ij}$ with $F_{ij} = 2\partial_{[i}A_{j]}(\xi)$ being the $\overline{\text{D3}}$ -brane Born-Infeld field and B_{ij} being the pull-back of the NS-NS two-form. The second (Wess-Zumino) term describes the couplings of the $\overline{\text{D3}}$ -brane to Ramond-Ramond potentials C_0, C_2 and C_4 , and $\int C \wedge e^{\mathcal{F}} = \int C_4 + \int \mathcal{F} \wedge C_2 + \frac{1}{2} \int C_0 \mathcal{F} \wedge \mathcal{F}$. In our conventions the overall minus sign of the WZ terms signals that we deal with the anti-D3-brane rather than the D3-brane.

Upon fixing the static gauge $\xi^i = \delta^i_m x^m$, from (7.8) one can read that in the bulk under consideration — see (7.1), (7.2), (7.4), (7.6) and (7.7) — the $\overline{\text{D3}}$ -brane at a point y^p feels the effective potential

$$U_{\overline{\text{D3}}}(y) = 4\pi M_P^4 |Y|^4 e^{4A(y)} = 4\pi M_P^4 \frac{e^{\frac{2K}{3}}}{e^{-\frac{K}{3}} + e^{-4A_0(y)}}.$$
(7.9)

Notice that the DBI and the WZ part of the $\overline{D3}$ -brane action give equal contributions into $U_{\overline{D3}}$. These contributions would cancel each other in the D3-brane case in which the sign of the WZ term is opposite. For fixed ρ^a and z_I^i moduli, this potential attracts the $\overline{D3}$ -brane to the regions of the internal space in which $e^{4A(y)}$ has a minimum or, equivalently, where $e^{-4A_0(y)}$ has a maximum.

Suppose that $e^{-4A_0(y)}$ is maximised at an isolated point $y_{\overline{D3}}^p$ and that around it the potential is very steep. We can then integrate out the field describing the position of the $\overline{D3}$ -brane and get the following contribution to the low-energy 4D effective action

$$-\int d^4x \sqrt{-\det g_4} U_{\overline{D3}} = -\frac{4\pi}{\kappa^4} \int d^4x \sqrt{-\det g_4} \frac{e^K}{1 + e^{\frac{K}{3}} e^{-4A_0(y_{\overline{D3}})}}.$$
 (7.10)

The potential (7.10) agrees with those of [111, 112] in particular simplifying limits. This is discussed in appendix B. Having integrated out the $\overline{D3}$ embedding fields $y^p(x)$, the only low-energy bosonic world-volume field which remains is the gauge field A_i (unless it

¹⁶There exists the so-called 'complete but gauge fixed' Lagrangian description of supergravity-superbrane interacting systems [119–121], which can also be applied to study the $\overline{\text{D3}}$ -brane backreaction.

is removed by an orientifold projection). Its leading two-derivative contributions to the effective action are obtained by expanding (7.8) (in the static gauge)

$$S_{\rm U(1)} = -\frac{1}{8\pi g_s} \int d^4x \sqrt{-\det g_4} F_{mn} F^{mn} - \frac{c_0}{4\pi} \int F \wedge F.$$
 (7.11)

Note that in the simplest case of constant axion c_0 the second term is purely topological.

One can also consider situations in which the minimum of (7.9) is degenerate, as for instance along the S^3 at the bottom of the Klebanov-Strassler throat [114]. Then the fluctuations of the $\overline{\text{D3}}$ -brane $\varphi^A(x)$ ($\mathcal{A} = 1, 2, 3$) along the S^3 are massless dynamical fields in the low-energy effective action. At the two-derivative level they are described by the action

$$S_{\varphi^A} = -\pi M_{\rm P}^2 \int \mathrm{d}^4 x \sqrt{-\det g_4} \, e^{\frac{K}{3}} e^{2A} \mathcal{G}_{\mathcal{AB}}(\varphi) g^{mn} \partial_m \varphi^{\mathcal{A}} \partial_n \varphi^{\mathcal{B}} \,, \tag{7.12}$$

Comparing (6.6) with (7.10), (7.11) and (7.12) we see that the latter three actions are particular examples of the generic goldstino brane construction.

7.3 D3-brane contribution: goldstino and other fermions

To include into consideration the $\overline{D3}$ -brane fermionic modes one should promote all the background fields of the action (7.8) to supefields in D = 10 type IIB superspace [105–108]. Then, as usual, the fermionic worldvolume fields appear as brane embedding coordiantes along the Grassmann-odd directions of the superspace (see the corresponding discussion in section 2). The explicit form of the fermionic part of the D-brane actions in generic D = 10 backgrounds is known only to the second order in the fermionic fields [122]. In the case of our interest the quadratic fermionic action has the following schematic form

$$S_{\text{fermi}} = -\frac{\mathrm{i}\pi}{\ell_{\mathrm{s}}^4} \int \mathrm{d}^4 \xi \sqrt{-\det\left[\hat{g}_{ij} + e^{-\frac{\phi}{2}} \mathcal{F}_{ij}\right]} \,\bar{\Theta} \mathcal{D}\Theta\,,\tag{7.13}$$

where (upon gauge fixing κ -symmetry) $\Theta(\xi)$ describes 16 dynamical fermionic degrees of freedom of the $\overline{\text{D3}}$ -brane and \mathcal{P} is a generalized Dirac operator whose form depends on the pull-back of the background fields and the worldvolume BI field F_{ij} .

By dimensionally reducing this action in the background of our interest to four dimensions, one finds that the supersymmetric bulk fluxes generate masses for 12 of the 16 dynamical fermions $\Theta(\xi)$, as discussed in detail in [53], leaving only four massless real fermionic fields, which are identified with the four-dimensional goldstino. One can see that in the static gauge $\xi^i = \delta_m^i x^m$ the action (7.13) is a particular case of the fermionic part of the generic action (6.6).

This illustrates how the general approach for coupling the goldstino to supergravity and to other supersymmetric or non-supersymmetric matter discussed in the present paper naturally includes the four-dimensional effective models obtained by the dimensional reduction of D-brane actions in string theory. Notice that this matching can be in principle extended to all higher order terms in the expansion of the D-brane action, by appropriately generalising the four-dimensional brane action (6.6) to the Dirac-Born-Infeld-like one, along the general lines described in the previous sections.

8 Conclusion

We have shown that different ways of describing the goldstino in $\mathcal{N} = 1$, D = 4 supersymmetric theories coupled to supergravity, either in terms of the constrained superfields or as the original Volkov-Akulov brane-like construction, are equivalent to each other and lead to similar very general effective field-theoretical models. The choice of one or another formulation may depend on the choice of the setup for model building. In particular, as we have demonstrated, the use of the goldstino brane provides a more geometrically intuitive way of constructing the couplings of the goldstino to matter supermultiplets, supergravity and single ('non-supersymmetric') matter fields, which is related in a more direct way to stringy phenomenological model building with flux compactification and branes.

We have shown that goldstino brane couplings to supergravity naturally produce an additional contribution to the gravitino mass which may be relevant in concrete phenomenological setups. On the other hand, getting such terms in the constrained superfield approaches and especially coupling them to matter is less straightforward. It would be of interest to understand whether and how such terms might arise from the dimensional reduction of a D-brane action in ten-dimensional superbackground.

Acknowledgments

This work was initiated with an enthusiastic participation of Mario Tonin who, to our great sorrow, left us on April 13, 2016. S.M.K. acknowledges the generous hospitality of the INFN, Sezione di Padova, and of the Max Planck Institute for Gravitational Physics (Albert Einstein Institute), Potsdam. S.M.K. is grateful to Ian McArthur and Simon Tyler for useful discussions. L.M. and D.S. are thankful to Gianguido Dall'Agata and Fotis Farakos for useful discussions and comments. The work of I.B. was partially supported by the Spanish MINECO grant FPA2012-35043-C02-01, partially financed with FEDER funds, by the Basque Government research group grant ITT559-10 and by the Basque Country University program UFI 11/55. The work of S.M.K. and D.S. is supported in part by the Australian Research Council, project No. DP160103633. The work of L.M. was partially supported by the Padua University Project CPDA144437. The work of D.S. was partially supported by the Russian Science Foundation grant 14-42-00047 in association with Lebedev Physical Institute.

A Classical consistency of the unitary gauge

Let us show that in any generic matter-coupled supergravity in which spontaneous breaking of local supersymmetry is manifested by the presence of goldstini (as e.g. the action (4.35)), the equations of motion of the latter are not independent, but are consequences of equations of motion of all the physical fields which couple to the goldstini. This property manifests a well known generic fact that the goldstone fields in the theories with spontaneously broken local symmetries are completely auxiliary Stueckelberg-like fields and can be removed by fixing a so called unitary gauge. The proof is as follows. Let $S_0(\varphi)$ be an action for a set of fields possessing a local symmetry. In the case of our interest we deal with local supersymmetry and φ stands for the fields of the supergravity multiplet and all possible physical matter fields. In particular, the action $S_0(\varphi)$ is invariant under the infinitesimal transformations of the fields φ with local symmetry parameters $\epsilon(x)$ which have the following generic form

$$\delta_{\epsilon}\varphi = \epsilon(x)a(\varphi) + \mathcal{D}\epsilon(x), \tag{A.1}$$

where $a(\varphi)$ is a field-dependent function, while a covariant derivative \mathcal{D} of the symmetry parameters appears in the symmetry transformations of the gauge fields, like gravitino.

The invariance of the action implies that (schematically)

$$\delta_{\epsilon}S_{0} = \int \delta_{\epsilon}\varphi(x)\frac{\delta S_{0}}{\delta\varphi(x)} = \int \epsilon(x)\left(a(\varphi)\frac{\delta S_{0}}{\delta\varphi} - \mathcal{D}\frac{\delta S_{0}}{\delta\varphi}\right) = 0, \qquad (A.2)$$

where (modulo total derivatives) $\frac{\delta S_0}{\delta \varphi}$ stand for the (left-hand sides of the) equations of motion of the fields φ . Since the parameters $\epsilon(x)$ are arbitrary the invariance of the action implies that the following combinations of the field equations are identically zero (without the use of the equations of motion themselves)

$$a(\varphi)\frac{\delta S_0}{\delta \varphi} - \mathcal{D}\frac{\delta S_0}{\delta \varphi} \equiv 0.$$
(A.3)

These are the well-known Noether identities whose number is equal to the number of the local symmetry parameters, the property that constitutes the second Noether theorem.

Let us now add to the action S_0 a spontaneous symmetry breaking term $S_1(\chi, \varphi)$ containing a generic coupling of physical fields to goldstone fields χ

$$S = S_0 + S_1$$
. (A.4)

By construction $S_1(\chi, \varphi)$ is invariant under the local symmetry transformations (A.1) accompanied by non-linear transformations of the goldstone fields encoded in the function $b(\chi, \varphi)$

$$\delta \chi = \epsilon(x)(1 + b(\chi, \varphi)). \tag{A.5}$$

Namely,

$$\delta_{\epsilon}S_{1} = \int \left[\delta_{\epsilon}\varphi(x)\frac{\delta S_{1}}{\delta\varphi(x)} + \delta_{\epsilon}\chi(x)\frac{\delta S_{1}}{\delta\chi(x)}\right]$$

=
$$\int \epsilon(x) \left[a(\varphi)\frac{\delta S_{1}}{\delta\varphi} - \mathcal{D}\frac{\delta S_{1}}{\delta\varphi} + (1+b(\chi,\varphi))\frac{\delta S_{1}}{\delta\chi}\right] = 0.$$
 (A.6)

Notice that $\frac{\delta S_1}{\delta \chi} = 0$ gives the goldstone field equations of motion. On the other hand, from (A.6) we see that the invariance of S_1 requires that the following equality holds off the mass shell

$$\frac{\delta S_1}{\delta \chi} = -\frac{1}{1+b(\chi,\varphi)} \left(a(\varphi) \frac{\delta S_1}{\delta \varphi} - \mathcal{D} \frac{\delta S_1}{\delta \varphi} \right) \,. \tag{A.7}$$

Now, the equations of motion of the physical fields get contributions from S_1 and take the form

$$\frac{\delta S_0}{\delta \varphi} = -\frac{\delta S_1}{\delta \varphi}, \qquad (A.8)$$

while the Noether identities (A.3) do not change and still hold. Comparing (A.3) and (A.8) we see that on the mass shell, for consistency, the following combination of the terms on the right-hand side of (A.8) should be equal to zero on its own

$$a(\varphi)\frac{\delta S_1}{\delta \varphi} - \mathcal{D}\frac{\delta S_1}{\delta \varphi} = 0.$$
(A.9)

Comparing (A.9) with (A.7) we see that the goldstone field equations are identically satisfied if the physical fields obey their equations of motion (A.8). In other words, the goldstone fields do not have independent field equations and hence are completely auxiliary Stueckelberg-like fields. As such, the consistency of (A.9) and (A.7) also implies that we can always choose the unitary gauge and put $\chi = 0$ directly in the action S_1 , which then however loses the gauge invariance.

Similar discussion of the properties of the Lagrangian description of interactions of super-p-branes with dynamical supergravity provided the basis for the 'complete but gauge fixed description' of these systems [119–121].

B The $\overline{D3}$ -brane potential: some explicit cases

Suppose that all the embedding fields $y_{\overline{D3}}^p$ of the anti-D3-brane are massive and that the bulk sector contains only the universal modulus $a = \frac{2\pi}{3}(\rho + \bar{\rho})$ depending on a single chiral field ρ , as in [111]. In this case the position of $y_{\overline{D3}}^m$ is determined by the extremisation of $e^{-4A_0(y_{\overline{D3}})}$, which does not depend on the universal modulus. Hence, at the minimum of the potential $e^{-4A_0(y_{\overline{D3}})}$ takes a fixed value $e^{-4A_0^{\min}}$. From (7.6) we get $K = -3\log(\rho + \bar{\rho}) - 3\log\frac{2\pi}{3}$ and then the potential (7.10) becomes

$$U_{\overline{\text{D3}}}(\rho,\bar{\rho}) = \frac{27M_{\text{P}}^4}{\pi(\rho+\bar{\rho})^2} \cdot \frac{1}{2\pi(\rho+\bar{\rho}) + 3e^{-4A_0^{\text{min}}}}$$
(B.1)

This potential has two limiting behaviours. If the warping felt by the $\overline{\text{D3}}$ -brane is weak, so that $e^{-4A_0^{\min}} \ll \pi(\rho + \bar{\rho})$, we have $U_{\overline{\text{D3}}} \sim M_{\text{P}}^4 (\rho + \bar{\rho})^{-3}$ as in [111]. If the warping is strong, $e^{-4A_0^{\min}} \gg \pi(\rho + \bar{\rho})$, then we have $U_{\overline{\text{D3}}} \sim M_{\text{P}}^4 e^{4A_0^{\min}} (\rho + \bar{\rho})^{-2}$ as in [112]. In particular, one needs strong warping if ρ is only moderately large and one wants a strong suppression of the contribution of the $\overline{\text{D3}}$ -brane potential. Then we can approximate the potential as

$$U_{\overline{\text{D3}}}(\rho,\bar{\rho}) \simeq \frac{9M_{\text{P}}^4 e^{4A_0^{\text{min}}}}{\pi(\rho+\bar{\rho})^2} \,.$$
 (B.2)

Still assuming that all the embedding fields $y_{\overline{D3}}^p$ are massive, we can also include additional bulk chiral fields z_I^i describing mobile D3-branes. In this case $\rho + \bar{\rho} = \frac{3a}{2\pi} + \sum_I k(z_I, \bar{z}_I)$, where $k(z, \bar{z})$ is the Kähler potential of the internal (non-dynamical) metric $ds_{X_6}^2$. From (7.6) one then gets

$$K = -3\log[\rho + \bar{\rho} - \sum_{I} k(z_{I}, \bar{z}_{I})] - 3\log\frac{2\pi}{3}, \qquad (B.3)$$

as first proposed in [123], which should be used in (7.10) together with

$$e^{-4A_0(y)} = \sum_I G(y; y_I) + e^{-4\tilde{A}_0(y)}, \qquad (B.4)$$

where $e^{-4\tilde{A}_0(y)}$ comes from the non-dynamical D3-charge entering Q_6 in (7.2) and does not depend on any modulus. As already mentioned above, the extremisation of (7.10) is equivalent to the extremisation of $e^{-4A_0(y)}$. If the mobile D3-branes are far enough from the $\overline{\text{D3}}$ -brane, in a first approximation we can neglect the contribution of $\sum_I G(y; y_I)$ to $e^{-4A_0(y)}$ in the determination of the minimum $y_{\overline{\text{D3}}}^p$, so that

$$e^{-4A_0(y_{\overline{D3}})} \simeq \sum_I G(y_{\overline{D3}}; y_I) + e^{-4\tilde{A}_0^{\min}}$$
 (B.5)

As above, let us also assume that $\overline{\text{D3}}$ -brane sits at a strongly warped point, $e^{-4\tilde{A}_0^{\min}} \gg 1$. Then (7.10) gives

$$U_{\overline{\text{D3}}}(\rho,\bar{\rho}) \simeq \frac{9M_{\text{P}}^4 e^{4\bar{A}_0^{\min}}}{\pi \left[\rho + \bar{\rho} - \sum_I k(z_I, \bar{z}_I)\right]^2} \left[1 - e^{4\bar{A}_0^{\min}} \sum_I G(y_{\overline{\text{D3}}}; y_I)\right].$$
 (B.6)

In this formula the Green's function encodes the D3- $\overline{\text{D3}}$ Coulomb interaction. This kind of contribution was identified in [112] in the case of conical geometries in which $G(y_{\overline{\text{D3}}}; y_I) \sim 1/r_I^4$, where r is the radial coordinate.

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- D.V. Volkov and V.P. Akulov, Possible universal neutrino interaction, JETP Lett. 16 (1972) 438 [INSPIRE].
- [2] D.V. Volkov and V.P. Akulov, Is the neutrino a goldstone particle?, Phys. Lett. B 46 (1973) 109 [INSPIRE].
- [3] V.P. Akulov and D.V. Volkov, Goldstone fields with spin 1/2, Theor. Math. Phys. 18 (1974) 28 [INSPIRE].
- [4] D.V. Volkov and V.A. Soroka, *Higgs effect for goldstone particles with spin* 1/2, *JETP Lett.* 18 (1973) 312 [INSPIRE].
- [5] D.V. Volkov and V.A. Soroka, Gauge fields for symmetry group with spinor parameters, Theor. Math. Phys. 20 (1974) 829 [INSPIRE].
- [6] P. Fayet and J. Iliopoulos, Spontaneously broken supergauge symmetries and goldstone spinors, Phys. Lett. B 51 (1974) 461 [INSPIRE].
- [7] L. O'Raifeartaigh, Spontaneous symmetry breaking for chiral scalar superfields, Nucl. Phys. B 96 (1975) 331 [INSPIRE].

- [8] D.Z. Freedman and A.K. Das, Gauge internal symmetry in extended supergravity, Nucl. Phys. B 120 (1977) 221 [INSPIRE].
- [9] S. Deser and B. Zumino, Broken supersymmetry and supergravity, Phys. Rev. Lett. 38 (1977) 1433 [INSPIRE].
- [10] I. Antoniadis, E. Dudas, S. Ferrara and A. Sagnotti, The Volkov-Akulov-Starobinsky supergravity, Phys. Lett. B 733 (2014) 32 [arXiv:1403.3269] [INSPIRE].
- [11] W. Buchmüller, E. Dudas, L. Heurtier and C. Wieck, Large-field inflation and supersymmetry breaking, JHEP 09 (2014) 053 [arXiv:1407.0253] [INSPIRE].
- S. Ferrara, R. Kallosh and A. Linde, Cosmology with nilpotent superfields, JHEP 10 (2014)
 143 [arXiv:1408.4096] [INSPIRE].
- [13] R. Kallosh and A. Linde, Inflation and uplifting with nilpotent superfields, JCAP 01 (2015) 025 [arXiv:1408.5950] [INSPIRE].
- [14] G. Dall'Agata and F. Zwirner, On sgoldstino-less supergravity models of inflation, JHEP 12 (2014) 172 [arXiv:1411.2605] [INSPIRE].
- [15] R. Kallosh, A. Linde and M. Scalisi, Inflation, de Sitter landscape and super-Higgs effect, JHEP 03 (2015) 111 [arXiv:1411.5671] [INSPIRE].
- [16] E. Dudas, L. Heurtier, C. Wieck and M.W. Winkler, UV corrections in sgoldstino-less inflation, Phys. Lett. B 759 (2016) 121 [arXiv:1601.03397] [INSPIRE].
- [17] S.R. Coleman, J. Wess and B. Zumino, Structure of phenomenological Lagrangians. 1, Phys. Rev. 177 (1969) 2239 [INSPIRE].
- [18] C.G. Callan Jr., S.R. Coleman, J. Wess and B. Zumino, Structure of phenomenological Lagrangians. 2, Phys. Rev. 177 (1969) 2247 [INSPIRE].
- [19] D.V. Volkov, Phenomenological Lagrangians, Fiz. Elem. Chast. Atom. Yadra 4 (1973) 3 [INSPIRE].
- [20] J. Hughes and J. Polchinski, Partially broken global supersymmetry and the superstring, Nucl. Phys. B 278 (1986) 147 [INSPIRE].
- [21] R. Kallosh, Volkov-Akulov theory and D-branes, hep-th/9705118 [INSPIRE].
- [22] E.A. Ivanov and A.A. Kapustnikov, Relation between linear and nonlinear realizations of supersymmetry, JINR-E2-10765 (1977).
- [23] E.A. Ivanov and A.A. Kapustnikov, General relationship between linear and nonlinear realizations of supersymmetry, J. Phys. A 11 (1978) 2375 [INSPIRE].
- [24] M. Roček, Linearizing the Volkov-Akulov model, Phys. Rev. Lett. 41 (1978) 451 [INSPIRE].
- [25] U. Lindström and M. Roček, constrained local superfields, Phys. Rev. D 19 (1979) 2300 [INSPIRE].
- [26] S. Samuel and J. Wess, A superfield formulation of the nonlinear realization of supersymmetry and its coupling to supergravity, Nucl. Phys. B 221 (1983) 153 [INSPIRE].
- [27] R. Casalbuoni, S. De Curtis, D. Dominici, F. Feruglio and R. Gatto, Nonlinear realization of supersymmetry algebra from supersymmetric constraint, Phys. Lett. B 220 (1989) 569 [INSPIRE].
- [28] Z. Komargodski and N. Seiberg, From linear SUSY to constrained superfields, JHEP 09 (2009) 066 [arXiv:0907.2441] [INSPIRE].

- [29] S.M. Kuzenko and S.J. Tyler, Complex linear superfield as a model for Goldstino, JHEP 04 (2011) 057 [arXiv:1102.3042] [INSPIRE].
- [30] F. Farakos and A. Kehagias, *Decoupling limits of sGoldstino modes in global and local supersymmetry*, *Phys. Lett.* **B 724** (2013) 322 [arXiv:1302.0866] [INSPIRE].
- [31] E. Dudas, S. Ferrara, A. Kehagias and A. Sagnotti, Properties of nilpotent supergravity, JHEP 09 (2015) 217 [arXiv:1507.07842] [INSPIRE].
- [32] E.A. Bergshoeff, D.Z. Freedman, R. Kallosh and A. Van Proeyen, Pure de Sitter supergravity, Phys. Rev. D 92 (2015) 085040 [arXiv:1507.08264] [INSPIRE].
- [33] F. Hasegawa and Y. Yamada, Component action of nilpotent multiplet coupled to matter in 4 dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supergravity, JHEP 10 (2015) 106 [arXiv:1507.08619] [INSPIRE].
- [34] S. Ferrara, M. Porrati and A. Sagnotti, Scale invariant Volkov-Akulov supergravity, Phys. Lett. B 749 (2015) 589 [arXiv:1508.02939] [INSPIRE].
- [35] S.M. Kuzenko, Complex linear Goldstino superfield and supergravity, JHEP **10** (2015) 006 [arXiv:1508.03190] [INSPIRE].
- [36] I. Antoniadis and C. Markou, The coupling of non-linear supersymmetry to supergravity, Eur. Phys. J. C 75 (2015) 582 [arXiv:1508.06767] [INSPIRE].
- [37] R. Kallosh and T. Wrase, De Sitter supergravity model building, Phys. Rev. D 92 (2015) 105010 [arXiv:1509.02137] [INSPIRE].
- [38] R. Kallosh, Matter-coupled de Sitter supergravity, Theor. Math. Phys. 187 (2016) 695 [arXiv:1509.02136] [INSPIRE].
- [39] G. Dall'Agata, S. Ferrara and F. Zwirner, Minimal scalar-less matter-coupled supergravity, Phys. Lett. B 752 (2016) 263 [arXiv:1509.06345] [INSPIRE].
- [40] M. Schillo, E. van der Woerd and T. Wrase, The general de Sitter supergravity component action, Fortsch. Phys. 64 (2016) 292 [arXiv:1511.01542] [INSPIRE].
- [41] R. Kallosh, A. Karlsson and D. Murli, From linear to nonlinear supersymmetry via functional integration, Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) 025012 [arXiv:1511.07547] [INSPIRE].
- [42] S. Ferrara, R. Kallosh, A. Van Proeyen and T. Wrase, *Linear versus non-linear supersymmetry, in general, JHEP* 04 (2016) 065 [arXiv:1603.02653] [INSPIRE].
- [43] F. Farakos, A. Kehagias, D. Racco and A. Riotto, Scanning of the supersymmetry breaking scale and the gravitino mass in supergravity, JHEP 06 (2016) 120 [arXiv:1605.07631]
 [INSPIRE].
- [44] I. Bandos, L. Martucci, D. Sorokin and M. Tonin, Brane induced supersymmetry breaking and de Sitter supergravity, JHEP 02 (2016) 080 [arXiv:1511.03024] [INSPIRE].
- [45] M.T. Grisaru and W. Siegel, Supergraphity. Part 1. Background field formalism, Nucl. Phys. B 187 (1981) 149 [INSPIRE].
- [46] B.A. Ovrut and D. Waldram, Membranes and three form supergravity, Nucl. Phys. B 506 (1997) 236 [hep-th/9704045] [INSPIRE].
- [47] S.M. Kuzenko and S.J. Tyler, Relating the Komargodski-Seiberg and Akulov-Volkov actions: exact nonlinear field redefinition, Phys. Lett. B 698 (2011) 319 [arXiv:1009.3298]
 [INSPIRE].

- [48] S.M. Kuzenko and S.J. Tyler, On the Goldstino actions and their symmetries, JHEP 05 (2011) 055 [arXiv:1102.3043] [INSPIRE].
- [49] I. Buchbinder and S. Kuzenko, Ideas and methods of supersymmetry and supergravity: a Walk through superspace, CRC Press, U.S.A. (1995).
- [50] P. McGuirk, G. Shiu and F. Ye, Soft branes in supersymmetry-breaking backgrounds, JHEP 07 (2012) 188 [arXiv:1206.0754] [INSPIRE].
- [51] E. Bergshoeff, F. Coomans, R. Kallosh, C.S. Shahbazi and A. Van Proeyen, Dirac-Born-Infeld-Volkov-Akulov and deformation of supersymmetry, JHEP 08 (2013) 100 [arXiv:1303.5662] [INSPIRE].
- [52] R. Kallosh and T. Wrase, Emergence of spontaneously broken supersymmetry on an anti-D3-brane in KKLT dS vacua, JHEP 12 (2014) 117 [arXiv:1411.1121] [INSPIRE].
- [53] E.A. Bergshoeff, K. Dasgupta, R. Kallosh, A. Van Proeyen and T. Wrase, D3 and dS, JHEP 05 (2015) 058 [arXiv:1502.07627] [INSPIRE].
- [54] R. Kallosh, F. Quevedo and A.M. Uranga, String theory realizations of the nilpotent goldstino, JHEP 12 (2015) 039 [arXiv:1507.07556] [INSPIRE].
- [55] L. Aparicio, F. Quevedo and R. Valandro, Moduli stabilisation with nilpotent goldstino: vacuum structure and SUSY breaking, JHEP 03 (2016) 036 [arXiv:1511.08105] [INSPIRE].
- [56] I. García-Etxebarria, F. Quevedo and R. Valandro, Global string embeddings for the nilpotent goldstino, JHEP 02 (2016) 148 [arXiv:1512.06926] [INSPIRE].
- [57] K. Dasgupta, M. Emelin and E. McDonough, Fermions on the anti-brane: higher order interactions and spontaneously broken supersymmetry, arXiv:1601.03409 [INSPIRE].
- [58] B. Vercnocke and T. Wrase, Constrained superfields from an anti-D3-brane in KKLT, JHEP 08 (2016) 132 [arXiv:1605.03961] [INSPIRE].
- [59] R. Kallosh, B. Vercnocke and T. Wrase, String theory origin of constrained multiplets, JHEP 09 (2016) 063 [arXiv:1606.09245] [INSPIRE].
- [60] J. Wess and B. Zumino, Superfield lagrangian for supergravity, Phys. Lett. B 74 (1978) 51 [INSPIRE].
- [61] V. Ogievetsky and E. Sokatchev, Structure of supergravity group, Phys. Lett. B 79 (1978) 222 [INSPIRE].
- [62] W. Siegel, Solution to constraints in Wess-Zumino supergravity formalism, Nucl. Phys. B 142 (1978) 301 [INSPIRE].
- [63] W. Siegel and S.J. Gates, Jr., Superfield supergravity, Nucl. Phys. B 147 (1979) 77 [INSPIRE].
- [64] V. Ogievetsky and E. Sokatchev, Equation of motion for the axial gravitational superfield, Sov. J. Nucl. Phys. 32 (1980) 589 [Yad. Fiz. 32 (1980) 1142] [INSPIRE].
- [65] P.S. Howe, Supergravity in superspace, Nucl. Phys. B 199 (1982) 309 [INSPIRE].
- [66] J. Wess and J. Bagger, Supersymmetry and supergravity, Princeton University Press, Princeton U.S.A. (1992).
- [67] V.P. Akulov, D.V. Volkov and V.A. Soroka, Gauge fields on superspaces with different holonomy groups, JETP Lett. 22 (1975) 187 [INSPIRE].

- [68] V.P. Akulov, D.V. Volkov and V.A. Soroka, On the general covariant theory of calibrating poles in superspace, Theor. Math. Phys. 31 (1977) 285 [INSPIRE].
- [69] V. Ogievetsky and E. Sokatchev, On vector superfield generated by supercurrent, Nucl. Phys. B 124 (1977) 309 [INSPIRE].
- [70] J. Wess, Supergravity, a Geometrical approach, in proceedings of conference Hadron constituents and symmetries, November 15–19, Smolenice, Slovakia (1976).
- [71] J. Wess and B. Zumino, Superspace formulation of supergravity, Phys. Lett. B 66 (1977) 361 [INSPIRE].
- [72] W. Siegel, The superfield supergravity action, HUTP-77/A080 (1977).
- [73] E.A. Ivanov and A.A. Kapustnikov, On a model independent description of spontaneously broken N = 1 supergravity in superspace, Phys. Lett. **B** 143 (1984) 379 [INSPIRE].
- [74] E.A. Ivanov, Gauge fields, nonlinear realizations, supersymmetry, Phys. Part. Nucl. 47 (2016) 508 [arXiv:1604.01379] [INSPIRE].
- [75] B. Zumino, Fermi-Bose supersymmetry (supergauge symmetry in four dimensions), in the proceedings of the 17th International Conference on high energy physics, (ICHEP 1974), July 1–10, London, U.K. (1974).
- [76] S.M. Kuzenko and I.N. McArthur, Goldstino superfields for spontaneously broken N = 2 supersymmetry, JHEP 06 (2011) 133 [arXiv:1105.3001] [INSPIRE].
- [77] S.M. Kuzenko and S.J. Tyler, Comments on the complex linear Goldstino superfield, arXiv:1507.04593 [INSPIRE].
- [78] F. Farakos, O. Hulík, P. Kočí and R. von Unge, Non-minimal scalar multiplets, supersymmetry breaking and dualities, JHEP 09 (2015) 177 [arXiv:1507.01885] [INSPIRE].
- [79] N. Cribiori, G. Dall'Agata and F. Farakos, Interactions of N goldstini in superspace, Phys. Rev. D 94 (2016) 065019 [arXiv:1607.01277] [INSPIRE].
- [80] W. Siegel, Gauge spinor superfield as a scalar multiplet, Phys. Lett. B 85 (1979) 333 [INSPIRE].
- [81] E.S. Kandelakis, Extended Akulov-Volkov superfield theory, Phys. Lett. B 174 (1986) 301 [INSPIRE].
- [82] A. Brignole, F. Feruglio and F. Zwirner, On the effective interactions of a light gravitino with matter fermions, JHEP 11 (1997) 001 [hep-th/9709111] [INSPIRE].
- [83] G. Dall'Agata and F. Farakos, Constrained superfields in supergravity, JHEP 02 (2016) 101 [arXiv:1512.02158] [INSPIRE].
- [84] G. Dall'Agata, E. Dudas and F. Farakos, On the origin of constrained superfields, JHEP 05 (2016) 041 [arXiv:1603.03416] [INSPIRE].
- [85] R. Kallosh, A. Karlsson, B. Mosk and D. Murli, Orthogonal nilpotent superfields from linear models, JHEP 05 (2016) 082 [arXiv:1603.02661] [INSPIRE].
- [86] E.A. Ivanov and A.A. Kapustnikov, Geometry of spontaneously broken local N = 1 supersymmetry in superspace, Nucl. Phys. B 333 (1990) 439 [INSPIRE].
- [87] H. Lüo, M. Luo and S. Zheng, Constrained superfields and standard realization of nonlinear supersymmetry, JHEP 01 (2010) 043 [arXiv:0910.2110] [INSPIRE].

- [88] S.M. Kuzenko and S.A. McCarthy, On the component structure of N = 1 supersymmetric nonlinear electrodynamics, JHEP 05 (2005) 012 [hep-th/0501172] [INSPIRE].
- [89] I.A. Bandos and C. Meliveo, Three form potential in (special) minimal supergravity superspace and supermembrane supercurrent, J. Phys. Conf. Ser. 343 (2012) 012012 [arXiv:1107.3232] [INSPIRE].
- [90] I.A. Bandos and C. Meliveo, Supermembrane interaction with dynamical D = 4 N = 1supergravity. Superfield Lagrangian description and spacetime equations of motion, JHEP 08 (2012) 140 [arXiv:1205.5885] [INSPIRE].
- [91] W. Siegel, A polynomial action for a massive, selfinteracting chiral superfield coupled to supergravity, HUTP-77/A077 (1977).
- [92] P.S. Howe and R.W. Tucker, Scale invariance in superspace, Phys. Lett. B 80 (1978) 138 [INSPIRE].
- [93] W. Siegel, Superconformal invariance of superspace with nonminimal auxiliary fields, Phys. Lett. B 80 (1979) 224 [INSPIRE].
- [94] T. Kugo and S. Uehara, Improved superconformal gauge conditions in the N = 1 supergravity Yang-Mills matter system, Nucl. Phys. B 222 (1983) 125 [INSPIRE].
- [95] S.M. Kuzenko, U. Lindström, M. Roček, I. Sachs and G. Tartaglino-Mazzucchelli, *Three-dimensional* N = 2 supergravity theories: from superspace to components, *Phys. Rev.* D 89 (2014) 085028 [arXiv:1312.4267] [INSPIRE].
- [96] V. Kaplunovsky and J. Louis, Field dependent gauge couplings in locally supersymmetric effective quantum field theories, Nucl. Phys. B 422 (1994) 57 [hep-th/9402005] [INSPIRE].
- [97] P. Binetruy, G. Girardi and R. Grimm, Supergravity couplings: a geometric formulation, Phys. Rept. 343 (2001) 255 [hep-th/0005225] [INSPIRE].
- [98] D.Z. Freedman and A. Van Proeyen, *Supergravity*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, U.K. (2012).
- [99] S. Ferrara, R. Kallosh and J. Thaler, Cosmology with orthogonal nilpotent superfields, Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) 043516 [arXiv:1512.00545] [INSPIRE].
- [100] J.J.M. Carrasco, R. Kallosh and A. Linde, Minimal supergravity inflation, Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) 061301 [arXiv:1512.00546] [INSPIRE].
- [101] S.J. Tyler, Studies of low-energy effective actions in supersymmetric field theories, Ph.D. thesis, Western Australia University, Australia (2014), arXiv:1401.4814 [INSPIRE].
- [102] P. Binetruy, F. Pillon, G. Girardi and R. Grimm, The three form multiplet in supergravity, Nucl. Phys. B 477 (1996) 175 [hep-th/9603181] [INSPIRE].
- [103] K.S. Stelle and P.C. West, Minimal auxiliary fields for supergravity, Phys. Lett. B 74 (1978) 330 [INSPIRE].
- [104] I.A. Bandos and C. Meliveo, Superfield equations for the interacting system of D = 4 N = 1 supermembrane and scalar multiplet, Nucl. Phys. B 849 (2011) 1 [arXiv:1011.1818]
 [INSPIRE].
- [105] M. Cederwall, A. von Gussich, B.E.W. Nilsson and A. Westerberg, The Dirichlet super three-brane in ten-dimensional type IIB supergravity, Nucl. Phys. B 490 (1997) 163
 [hep-th/9610148] [INSPIRE].

- M. Cederwall, A. von Gussich, B.E.W. Nilsson, P. Sundell and A. Westerberg, The Dirichlet super p-branes in ten-dimensional type IIA and IIB supergravity, Nucl. Phys. B 490 (1997) 179 [hep-th/9611159] [INSPIRE].
- [107] M. Aganagic, C. Popescu and J.H. Schwarz, D-brane actions with local kappa symmetry, Phys. Lett. B 393 (1997) 311 [hep-th/9610249] [INSPIRE].
- [108] E. Bergshoeff and P.K. Townsend, Super D-branes, Nucl. Phys. B 490 (1997) 145 [hep-th/9611173] [INSPIRE].
- [109] J. Bagger and A. Galperin, A new goldstone multiplet for partially broken supersymmetry, Phys. Rev. D 55 (1997) 1091 [hep-th/9608177] [INSPIRE].
- [110] E. Bergshoeff, R. Kallosh, A.-K. Kashani-Poor, D. Sorokin and A. Tomasiello, An index for the Dirac operator on D3 branes with background fluxes, JHEP 10 (2005) 102
 [hep-th/0507069] [INSPIRE].
- [111] S. Kachru, R. Kallosh, A.D. Linde and S.P. Trivedi, De Sitter vacua in string theory, Phys. Rev. D 68 (2003) 046005 [hep-th/0301240] [INSPIRE].
- [112] S. Kachru, R. Kallosh, A.D. Linde, J.M. Maldacena, L.P. McAllister and S.P. Trivedi, Towards inflation in string theory, JCAP 10 (2003) 013 [hep-th/0308055] [INSPIRE].
- [113] S.B. Giddings, S. Kachru and J. Polchinski, *Hierarchies from fluxes in string compactifications*, *Phys. Rev.* D 66 (2002) 106006 [hep-th/0105097] [INSPIRE].
- [114] I.R. Klebanov and M.J. Strassler, Supergravity and a confining gauge theory: Duality cascades and χ_{SB} resolution of naked singularities, JHEP **08** (2000) 052 [hep-th/0007191] [INSPIRE].
- [115] L. Martucci, Warping the Kähler potential of F-theory/IIB flux compactifications, JHEP 03 (2015) 067 [arXiv:1411.2623] [INSPIRE].
- [116] L. Martucci, Warped Kähler potentials and fluxes, arXiv:1610.02403 [INSPIRE].
- [117] B. Michel, E. Mintun, J. Polchinski, A. Puhm and P. Saad, Remarks on brane and antibrane dynamics, JHEP 09 (2015) 021 [arXiv:1412.5702] [INSPIRE].
- [118] J. Polchinski, Brane/antibrane dynamics and KKLT stability, arXiv:1509.05710 [INSPIRE].
- [119] I.A. Bandos, J.A. De Azcarraga and J.M. Izquierdo, Supergravity interacting with bosonic p-branes and local supersymmetry, Phys. Rev. D 65 (2002) 105010 [hep-th/0112207]
 [INSPIRE].
- [120] I.A. Bandos, J.A. de Azcarraga, J.M. Izquierdo and J. Lukierski, On dynamical supergravity interacting with super p-brane sources, talk given ath 3rd International Sakharov Conference on Physics, June 24–29, Moscow, Russia (2002), hep-th/0211065 [INSPIRE].
- [121] I. Bandos and J.A. de Azcarraga, Dirac equation for the supermembrane in a background with fluxes from a component description of the D = 11 supergravity-supermembrane interacting system, JHEP 09 (2005) 064 [hep-th/0507197] [INSPIRE].
- [122] D. Marolf, L. Martucci and P.J. Silva, Actions and fermionic symmetries for D-branes in bosonic backgrounds, JHEP 07 (2003) 019 [hep-th/0306066] [INSPIRE].
- [123] O. DeWolfe and S.B. Giddings, Scales and hierarchies in warped compactifications and brane worlds, Phys. Rev. D 67 (2003) 066008 [hep-th/0208123] [INSPIRE].